
 
 

 
West Northamptonshire Council 

www.westnorthants.gov.uk  

South Northamptonshire Local Area 
Planning Committee 

A meeting of the South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning 
Committee will be held at The Forum, Moat Lane, Towcester, NN12 6AD 

on Thursday 6 April 2023 at 2.15 pm 
 

Agenda 
 .  
1.  Apologies for Absence and Appointment of Substitute Members  

 
 
2.  Declarations of Interest  

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they 
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 

 
3.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 March 2023. 
 

 
4.  Chair's Announcements  

To receive communications from the Chair. 
 

 
5.  Proposed Pre-Committee Site Visits  

Report of the Development Management Manager.  
  
This report will be included with the written updates published in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

 

Planning Applications 
 
6.  Land South East of Field View, Brackley (Pages 13 - 42) 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



7.  Aston Martin F1, Buckingham Road, Silverstone (Pages 43 - 76) 
 

 
8.  Urgent Business  

The Chair to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business being 
admitted to the agenda. 
 

 
 
Catherine Whitehead 
Proper Officer 
29 March 2023 
 
 
South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee Members: 

Councillor Stephen Clarke (Chair) Councillor Ken Pritchard (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Anthony S. Bagot-Webb Councillor Dermot Bambridge 
Councillor William Barter Councillor Maggie Clubley 
Councillor Karen Cooper Councillor Alison Eastwood 
Councillor Sue Sharps  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 2



 

Information about this Agenda 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.  
 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start 
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item 
 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available 
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Richard Woods, Democratic 
Services via the following:  
 
Tel: 01327 322043 
Email: democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Or by writing to:  
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
The Forum 
Moat Lane 
Towcester 
NN12 6AD 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee 

 
Minutes of a meeting of the South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee 
held at The Forum, Moat Lane, Towcester, NN12 6AD on Thursday 9 March 2023 at 
2.15 pm. 
 
Present: 
Councillor Stephen Clarke (Chair) 
Councillor Ken Pritchard (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Anthony S. Bagot-Webb 
Councillor Dermot Bambridge 
Councillor William Barter 
Councillor Maggie Clubley 
Councillor Karen Cooper 
Councillor Alison Eastwood 
Councillor Sue Sharps  
 
Officers: 
James Rodger, Development Management Manager 
James Paterson, Principal Planning Officer (For Minute Items 49 and 50) 
Neil Weeks, Planning Solicitor 
Richard Woods, Democratic Services Officer 
 
 

45. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

46. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 February 2023 were agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

47. Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair made the following announcements:  
  
1. Members of the public were permitted to film, broadcast, and report on the 

meeting, subject to the efficient running of the meeting not being affected. 
  
2.  Members of the public were requested not to call out during the Committee’s 

discussions on any item. 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee - 9 March 2023 
 

3.  There were no planned fire drills so in the event of an alarm sounding, evacuation 
instructions would be given by officers.  

  
4.  That it be requested that any devices be switched off or onto silent mode. 
 
 

48. Proposed Pre-Committee Site Visits  
 
The Development Management Manager submitted a report which recommended 
that the Committee agree to hold a pre-Committee site visit for the following 
application: 
  
Application No.      WNS/2022/2294/MAF 
  
Proposal:                Erection of 66-bed care home for elderly people with associated 

access, car parking and landscaping.  
  
Location:                Towcester Road, Greens Norton, NN12 8BL 
  
Reason for visit:    To enable the relationship of the development to the village to be 

assessed. To consider, in site context. The design merits of the 
proposals, and highway impacts. 

  
In approving the site visit, Members of the Committee agreed that it shall be held on 
Tuesday 4 April 2023.  
  
Resolved 
  
(1)  That the proposed pre-committee site visits be approved. 
 
 

49. Westgate House Nursing Home, Eastcote Road, Gayton  
 
The Committee considered application WNS/2022/2442/FUL for retrospective 
change of use from a residential care home (C2) to a large HMO/Hostel 
accommodation (sui-generis) at Westgate House Nursing Home, Eastcote Road, 
Gayton for Midlands Living CIC.  
  
Carl Hamilton, on behalf of Gayton Parish Council, addressed the Committee in 
objection to the application on the grounds that Gayton, being a small village with 
limited amenities, was an inappropriate location for such a proposal.  
  
Helen Smith and Pete Hughes, on behalf of the applicant Midlands Living, addressed 
the Committee in support of the application, outlining that there was a nationwide 
shortage of accommodation for refugees and displaced persons arriving in the United 
Kingdom from overseas, therefore the application should be considered against this 
national context. 
  
Councillor Karen Cooper, the local ward member for Bugbrooke, addressed the 
Committee and provided an overview of the application and a summary of issues that 

Page 6



South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee - 9 March 2023 
 

had been raised locally, which centred around concerns that Gayton was a remote 
village with a lack of infrastructure, limited public transport links, and inadequate 
facilities and amenities to support the proposed development.  
  
It was proposed by Councillor William Barter that the application be deferred to allow 
for a meeting to be held between the applicant, Midlands Living, and local 
stakeholders to allow some of the issues that had been highlighted to be resolved. 
The proposal was not seconded, and the motion subsequently fell. 
  
It was proposed by Councillor Karen Cooper and seconded by Councillor Ken 
Pritchard that the application be refused in accordance with the Case Officer’s 
recommendation. The motion was put to the vote with nine votes cast in favour of the 
proposal and no votes cast against, therefore the motion was carried.  
  
Resolved 
  
(1)  That application WNS/2022/2442/FUL be refused for the following reasons: 
  

Principle 
  
1.    The proposed development would be isolated in the open countryside with the 

nearest settlement being a small village with inadequate services and facilities 
to accommodate the proposed use. The proposed use would also not meet 
the definition of the housing types that can be acceptable outside of settlement 
confines, as per the policies of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan, 
while also failing to satisfy the circumstances in which isolated homes in the 
countryside would be acceptable, as per paragraph 80 of the NPPF. The 
operation of the proposed use would also be incompatible with the character 
of the nearby village of Gayton. The proposed development would therefore 
not be sustainably located and would be contrary to Policies SA, S1, S10 and 
R1 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) and 
Policies SS1 and SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan as 
well as paragraph 80 of the NPPF. 
  
Loss of Care Home 
  

2.    The proposed development would result in the loss of an existing care home to 
other uses. The proposal is therefore contrary to the aims of the South 
Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan which identifies a need for additional 
residential and nursing care facilities and is specifically contrary to the aims of 
Policy LH7 which addresses this unmet need by supporting the provision of 
new residential and nursing care on suitable sites. The application also fails to 
clearly justify this loss by setting out mitigating material planning 
circumstances which would outweigh LH7, such as viability information. The 
proposed development also fails the tests set out in paragraph 78 of the NPPF 
since the proposal would fail to respond to local circumstances and provide 
housing that reflect local needs. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy 

Page 7



South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee - 9 March 2023 
 

LH7 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan and paragraph 78 of the 
NPPF. 
  
Highways Impacts 
  

3.    The proposed development would be unsustainably located and would not 
provide adequate public transport access to future occupants of the 
development. The proposed development result in an increase of vehicle 
movements on the local highway network which comprises of roads that are 
narrow and unlit and are therefore unsuitable to manage an increased level of 
traffic. The application site can also be accessed by a 60mph single lane unlit 
country road with no footpath which would pose an unacceptable risk to 
potential occupants. The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy 
SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan, Policy C2 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy as well as paragraphs 111 and 112 of 
the NPPF. 

  
 

50. Sands Farm, Watling Street, Pattishall  
 
The Committee considered application WNS/2022/1685/FUL for the demolition and 
rebuilding of a single dwelling with associated internal and external works at Sands 
Farm, Watling Street, Pattishall for Mr and Mrs M Kittle. 
  
Mark Kittle, the applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
provided an overview of the merits of the application, and the work that had gone into 
refining the design following a previous application that was not approved.  
  
In response to questions from the Committee regarding the building materials to be 
used in the design of the dwelling, the Principal Planning Officer advised that stone 
would be the predominant construction material in the development, however 
samples of the proposed materials and roof tiles would be required to be submitted 
for approval prior to the commencement of works.   
  
It was proposed by Councillor Karen Cooper and seconded by Councillor Sue Sharps 
that the application be approved in accordance with the Case Officer’s 
recommendation. The motion was put to the vote with nine votes cast in favour of the 
proposal and none cast against, therefore the motion was carried. 
  
Resolved 
  
(1)  That authority be delegated to the Assistant Director – Planning and Development 

to grant permission to application WNS/2022/1685/FUL subject to the conditions 
set out in the Case Officer’s report (and any amendments to those conditions as 
deemed necessary). 

 
 

51. Urgent Business  
 

Page 8



South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee - 9 March 2023 
 

The Development Management Manager submitted a report under urgent  business 
which sought to keep Members informed upon applications which had been 
determined by the Council and where new appeals had been lodged. The report set 
out details of new appeals lodged between 1 January 2023 and 1 March 2023 and of 
Public Inquiries/hearings scheduled. 
  
In response to questions from the Committee regarding the types of appeals 
commonly heard in the local authority planning process, the Development 
Management Manager advised that there were three main types of appeal 
determined by the Planning Inspectorate, which consisted of the following: a formal 
public inquiry, which involved legal representation and the cross examination of 
witnesses, an informal hearing, where witnesses are not cross examined but parties 
may still be legally represented, and written representations submitted to the 
Planning Inspector for determination.  
  
Members of the Committee thanked Officers for producing the report and requested 
that regular updates on the progress of appeals be brought forward to future 
meetings of the Committee. 
  
Resolved 
  
(1)  That the position statement be accepted. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 4.03 pm 
 
 

Chair: ________________________ 
 

Date: ________________________ 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



West Northamptonshire Council 
South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee 

Thursday 6 April 2023 
 

Agenda 
Item  

 

Ward Application 
Number 

Location Officer 
Recommendation 

Case 
Officer 

6 Brackley WNS/2022/0848/MAF Land South East of 
Field View, Brackley 

Grant Permission* Saffron 
Loasby 

7 Silverstone WNS/2022/1468/MAF Aston Martin F1, 
Buckingham Road, 
Silverstone 

Grant Permission* Rebecca 
Smith 

 

*Subject to conditions 

Page 11

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number:

Parish:

Town\Village:

Site Area:  

Grid Location:

Map Scale: 1:2500

2

4

15

15

12

16

97

1

Shelter

8

103

Play Area

Pond

W
ES

TH
IL

L 
GAR

DE
NS

STEANE VIEW

7

2

6

6

83

(Veterinary Centre)

85

24

19

17

141

El Sub Sta

11

Pond

STRATTON DRIVE

BANBURY ROAD

Path

122.6m

10

26

20

1

1

21

120

Dismantled Railway

CL

11

12
3

17

6

30

11

12

10

Drain

Pond

CS

CL
O

SE

FIELD VIEW
Path (um)

1

70

5

2

86

5

10

25

WESTHILL

A422

HAW
KI

NS
Path (u

m)

7

15

131

28

2

17

34

The Croft

26

14

3

85

33

9

7

El Sub Sta

Def

Trac
k

1

81

7

11
3

66

15
12

0a

14

64a

1

12

81

8

8

16

Drain

Drain

FA
RTH

IN
GHOE C

LO
SE

Track

121.6m

36

22

9

5

10
6

4

1

23

Shelter

Shelter

Def

ED & Ward Bdy
ED & Ward Bdy

WNS/2022/0848/FUL

Brackley CP

Brackley

2.4462 Ha

SP5779136936

©  C rown  Copyrigh t. A ll righ ts  and  da tabase  righ ts  reserved . 
W est Northamp tonsh ire  Counc il 100063706  2023

Site

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: WNS/2022/0848/MAF 
 
Location:  Land South East of Field View, Brackley 
 
Proposal: Residential Development comprising 71 dwellings together with 

associated outdoor space and infrastructure on land south east of Field 
View (Phase 1) Brackley 

 
 

Applicant:   Lagan Homes Ltd    
 
Agent:   N/A            
 
Case Officer:  Saffron Loasby  
 
 
Ward:    Brackley   
     
 
Reason for Referral:   
 
Committee Date:  06/04/2023    
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: DELEGATE TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND 
DEVELOPMENT TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO:  
 
1. ADEQUATE SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE INFORMATION BEING SUBMITTED TO 
ADDRESS COMMENTS OF THE LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY (WITH DELEGATED 
AUTHORITY TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT TO 
ADD ANY RECOMMENDED DRAINAGE CONDITIONS) AND 
2. SUBJECT TO THE S106 AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS SET OUT BELOW (AND ANY 
AMENDMENTS TO THOSE CONDITIONS AS DEEMED NECESSARY)  
 
Proposal  
Full planning permission is sought for 71 houses (including 10%, 8 No.) affordable dwellings 
with children’s play area.  
 
Consultations 
The following consultees have raised objections to the application: 

• Highways, Brackley Town Council, Parish Council, NCC Lead Local Flood Authority, 
Crime Prevention Design Advisor, Recreation and Leisure 
 

The following consultees have raised no objections to the application subject to conditions: 
• Planning Policy, Environment Agency, Building Control, Ecology, Waste and 

Recycling, Archaeology, Environmental Health, Anglian Water,  
 

The following consultees are in support of the application:  
• Strategic Housing (following Viability Assessment) 

One letter of objection has been received and no letters of support have been received. 
 

Page 15



Conclusion  
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.  
 
The key issues arising from the application details are:  

• Principle of Development 
• Viability and Affordable Housing 
• Highways Safety 
• Layout and design 
• Ecology impact 
• Flooding and drainage 
• Local Infrastructure and S106 obligations 

 
The report considers the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the 
proposal is acceptable subject to conditions and a S.106 Agreement.  

 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below, which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
 
MAIN REPORT  
 
1. APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  
 
1.1 The application site is a rectangular area of land located to the south of Steane View, 

Brackley, comprising 2.5ha. To the north-west sits the ongoing development of the 
recently commenced residential build on land to the south of Field View, under planning 
reference S/2018/2803/MAR and the earlier S/2016/0331/MAO. To the south-east sits 
St James Park and to the south-west of the site is the A422, which connects Brackley 
with Banbury, and is separated from the site by an earth bund approximately 2 metres 
in height, which is covered with mature and semi mature shrubs and trees.  The bund 
falls outside the application site.   
 

1.2 To the south-east is an established hedgerow, which separates the site from a disused 
railway line (London and North Western Railway) that runs within a shallow cutting, and 
which is owned by the Town Council and in use as a pocket park.     
 

1.3 Beyond the north and eastern boundaries sits predominantly residential development 
comprising a mixture of 19th and 20th Century single-storey, chalet style, terraced and 
detached two-storey dwellings.  Field View, located furthest north-west of the site is an 
early twenty first century development containing a similar mix of housing with some 
additional three-storey flats, all served from a roundabout onto the Brackley Road, one 
of the principal highways into and out of Brackley.  

 
1.4 Steane View, located directly to the north, comprises a small estate development of 

detached single storey 20th Century dwellings.   
 

2. CONSTRAINTS 
 

2.1. The application site constraints are as follows:  
 

Page 16



• the site is identified in the Brackley Masterplan as new Public Open Space or 
recreation 

• the disused railway is identified as a potential wildlife site 
• the site lies next to the St James County Wildlife site  
• the site lies within 2km of a Local Wildlife Site 
• the site lies within in area of known archaeological value   
• the site has a pipeline easement relating to drainage 

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

 
3.1. The proposal is a full planning application for the construction of 71 dwellings considered 

as Phase 2 of the currently approved and developing site to the north-west. The 
development proposes a main spine road that runs almost in line with the neighbouring 
A422 from which the development is mainly served, with most of the properties along 
this road fronting the highway. There are two main road spurs reaching north-east 
towards the discussed railway line and the remainder of the site is served through private 
drives.  The layout of the development is arranged similarly to that of the north, in 
perimeter blocks, thereby ensuring a more satisfactory street scene.   
 

3.2. There are several sewer and gas easements running through this and the neighbouring 
developing site, which cannot have buildings built upon them. These, to a large extent 
dictate the road positions and, therefore, the overall layout of the site.  The development 
proposes a number of terraced properties, which would be served by parking courts; the 
remainder of the dwellings have on-plot parking provision.   
 

3.3. In the south-east corner of the proposal is an area of public open space and a children’s 
play area (LEAP).   
 

3.4. The housing mix is divided up as follows:  
 

• Market Dwellings: 15 no. 2 bed, 26 no. 3 bed, 22no.  4+ bed 
• Affordable Housing: 8no.  1 bed  

3.5. The total percentage of affordable housing is 10%, which is a considered percentage, 
following the submission of a full viability assessment for the development.   
 

3.6. The design of the dwellings, much like those approved as part of the adjoining scheme, 
follows the local vernacular for the South Northamptonshire area and utilises the 
Radstone Fields Design Code, which has influenced much of the recent development 
within Brackley.  The proposed facing materials are a mixture of render, facing brickwork 
and with three ironstone houses proposed.  The roofs would comprise a mixture of red 
and brown plain concrete and slate effect tiles.  Photovoltaic panels are also proposed 
on all roof slopes.  Most of the proposed dwellings would be two-storey in height, 
however there are three detached 21/2 storey dwellings proposed, as well as one row of 
three terraces, each of 21/2-storeys in height also.  In addition, there would be four single-
storey dwellings.   

 

3.7. During consideration of the application the plans have been amended twice.  Once to 
add photovoltaics and add a linking footpath next to plot 53 and once to amend the 
dimensions of the proposed bungalows.  Additional information has also been 
forthcoming in response to the representations received by the Council and the views of 

Page 17



Council officers, thus resulting in improvements to the development as well as 
addressing technical issues.   

3.8. Timescales for Delivery: The applicant/agent has advised that, in the event that planning 
permission is granted, they anticipate development commencing as soon as possible this 
year.   
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 

4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:  
 
Application Ref. Proposal Decision 
WNS/2021/0092/P
RS 

Residential Development comprising up to 
71 dwellings 

Pre-app advice 
issued 

S/2018/2803/MAR Reserved Matters application for 65 
dwellings (Pursuant to outline planning 
permission S/2016/0331/MAO) 

Approved  

S/2016/0331/MAO Outline permission for 68 dwellings  Approved 
subject to a S106 
Agreement 

S/2009/1189/MAO  Outline permission for 70 dwellings  Refused  
S/1994/0688/P Use of land as allotments Approved 
S/1994/0221/P Construction of a new access road and 

parking area 
Approved 

 
 

5. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
Statutory Duty 
 

5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 
Development Plan 
 

5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local 
Plan (Part 1), which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 
15th December 2014, and which provides the strategic planning policy framework for the 
District to 2029, the adopted South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) and adopted 
Neighbourhood Plans.  The relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan 
are set out below: 
 
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1) 
 

5.3. The relevant polices of the LPP1 are: 
 

• SA – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
• S1 – Distribution of Development  
• S3 – Scale and Distribution of Housing Development 
• S10 – Sustainable Development Principles 
• S11 – Low Carbon and Renewable Energy 
• C1 – Changing Behaviour and Achieving Modal Shift 
• C2 – New Developments 

Page 18



• RC2 – Community Needs 
• H1 - Housing Density and Mix and Type of Dwellings 
• H2 - Affordable Housing  
• H4 – Sustainable Housing 
• BN1 – Green Infrastructure Corridors 
• BN2 – Biodiversity 
• BN5 – The Historic Environment and Landscape 
• BN7 – Flood Risk  
• BN7A - Water Supply, Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure 
• INF1 - Approach to Infrastructure Delivery  
• INF2 - Contributions to Infrastructure Requirements 
• B1 – Spatial Strategy for Brackley   

 
South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) (LPP2) 
 

5.4. The relevant policies of the LPP2 are: 
 

• SS1 – The settlement hierarchy 
• SS2 – General development and design principles  
• LH1 – Development within town and village confines 
• LH8 – Affordable housing 
• LH10 – Housing mix and type  
• SDP2 – Health facilities and wellbeing 
• INF1 – Infrastructure delivery and funding 
• INF4 – Electric vehicle charging points  
• GS1 – Open space, sport and recreation 
• HE2 – Scheduled ancient monuments and archaeology 
• NE2 – Special Landscape Areas 
• NE3 – Green Infrastructure Corridors 
• NE4 – Trees, woodlands and hedgerows  
• NE5 – Biodiversity and geodiversity  
• NE6 – SSSIs and Protected Species 

 
Material Considerations 
 

5.5. Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations 
 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
• South Northamptonshire Council Supplementary Planning Guidance and 

Documents 
• SNC Design Guide 
• The Brackley Masterplan  
• The Radstone Fields Design Code.  
• Housing Land Availability Study South Northants Area May 2021 
• EU Habitats Directive Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
• Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017  
• Circular 06/2005 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation) 
• Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”) 
• Equalities Act 2010 (“EA”) 
• SNC Corporate Priorities - to ensure the District is “Protected, Green & Clean”, 

is a place which supports “Thriving Communities & Wellbeing”, and is a District 
of “Opportunity & Growth”. 

Page 19



 
6. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 

Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website, via the online 
Planning Register. 
 
Consultee Name Position Comment 
NCC LLFA Objects • Objects until further information is 

submitted with regards to surface 
water drainage 

Ecology  Objects on some 
grounds 

• Concerned that Ecology and 
Landscaping regarding the 
retention of the hedgerow 
boundary is conflicting. 

• Concern around low BNG on site 
(13.19 habitat units or -82%) 

• Suggested conditions include 
compliance with submitted pre and 
post development ecology 
assessments. 

• CEMP for the mitigation of pollution 
on the PLWS by condition  

• LEMP to be secured by condition 
(30-year period)  

 
Waste and 
Recycling  

Clarification 
needed 

• Clarification on collection points as 
some proposed will not be 
collected from. 

Building Control  No objection  • Fire access needs to be 
ascertained 

Planning Policy  No objection • Subject to meeting other 
Development Management 
policies. 

Archaeology  Condition required  • Programme of archaeological work 
required prior to development 
commencing 

Brackley Town 
Council 

Objects  • Ecology does not take into account 
St James Lake 

• Drainage and flood risk concerns 
• Play area is too small for 71 units 

(5 items not enough) 
• Concern the estate will not be 

adopted 

Page 20



• Lack of greenery 

Environmental 
Health 

Objection due to 
further clarification 
needed 

• Limited information submitted 
• Noise concerns due to proximity to 

the A422 
• Noise condition for pumping station 
• Construction phase conditions and 

informatives 
• Air and water heating and cooling 

systems to be conditions 
• Electrical charging points 

conditioned 
• Land quality and unexpected 

contamination condition 
• Considered to be insufficient 

information submitted to know 
whether a noise condition is 
achievable particularly in the 
external amenity space adjacent 
the A422 

 
Anglian Water Support subject to 

conditions 
• Condition to secure onsite drainage 

strategy and five informatives 
• List documents as part of approved 

scheme 
• Surface water hierarchy evidence 

will need to be submitted at 106 
application stage 

• Foul water drainage condition 
• Section 4 plans documented as 

part of approval 

Crime Prevention 
Design Advisor 

Objection • Many houses do not provide 
surveillance over the parking courts 
from within a routinely inhabited 
ground floor room 

• Two large rear parking courts 
serving in excess of 5 dwellings 

• Gates leading to parking courts 
should be key lockable from both 
sides 

• All houses should be fitted    doors 
and windows compliant with 3rd 
party accredited security standard 
such as PAS24:2016 

Strategic Housing Objection initially, 
viability assessed 

• Agreeable to 8 x 1 bed units 

Page 21



comprising 10% affordable 
dwellings 

Local Highway 
Authority 

Objection • Suggest link to the perimeter 
footpath at Plot 53 

• Does not allow for single garages 
as parking spaces 

• Double garages counted as one 
space with storage – amend 
sitewide 

• Objection to parking courts 
• 25% visitor parking required 
• Parking provision for the pumping 

station is required 
• Triple tandem spaces not favoured 

– (if used dimensions 9.5m x 11m) 
• EV points made where possible 
• Require 4-week or one month bus 

ticket for the local area at one per 
unit on first occupation 

• £1000 per unit to enhance the 
current bus service via S106 
Agreement 

• Survey data requested for further 
assessment 

• Opportunities to share 
implementation of the site Travel 
Plan with St James View are 
expected and should be set out 
within the TP  

Recreation and 
Leisure  

Objection • Very dense 
• Lack of garden space 
• Dwellings SW of the site very small 

gardens 
• No green spaces centrally 
• LEAP in poor location  
• No connectivity to the existing 

footpaths 
• No links to open space around the 

site 
• Paths cycle paths required 
• More trees to be planted 
• Picnic benching required 
• LEAP should meet Fields in Trust 

standards 
• Trees and hedgerows should be 

Page 22



retained, loss should be replaced 
• Heat pumps/boiler bans 
• Electric car charging points 
• Very little green space, dominated 

by parking, roads and back-to-back 
housing. 

• Quality of life for residents 
questioned 
 

 
7. RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY 
 

Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the time of 
writing this report.  

 
7.1. There has been one objection and no letters of support raising the following comments: 

 
• Unnecessary development 
• Impact on Highway Safety 
• Adverse impact on biodiversity 

 
 
8. APPRAISAL  

 
Principle of Development 
 
Policy Context   

8.1. The adopted Development Plan for South Northamptonshire comprises the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (LPP1) and the Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2).  

8.2. LPP1– this Plan was adopted in December 2014. Spatial Objectives 1, 3, 11 and 12 are 
amongst those that provide direction to the policies of the LPP1. These seek to provide 
a range of housing in sustainable locations; to reduce the need to travel and promote 
sustainable travel modes; to ensure all residents have access to a home that they can 
afford and that meets their needs; and state that housing development will be focused at 
the most sustainable location of Northampton, supported by Daventry, Towcester and 
Brackley in their roles as rural service centres. Limited development will take place in the 
rural areas to provide for local needs and to support local services. The LPP1 policies 
most important for determining the acceptability in principle of development are policies 
SA, S1, S3 and S10.   

8.3. Policy SS1 of the LPP2 advises that proposal for new development will be directed 
towards the most sustainable locations in accordance with the district’s settlement 
hierarchy with Brackley identified as a top tier, first category settlement.  The most 
important policies in LPP2 for determining the acceptability in principle of development 
are Policies SS1 and LH1.  

8.4. The site falls within the Brackley town confines, as set out in ‘Inset 10’ of the LPP2. LPP2 
Policy LH1 states that “Residential development within town and village confines as 
defined on the Proposals Map, and within the boundary of the NRDA will be acceptable 
in principle where it:  

Page 23



a) provides for an appropriate mix of dwellings in accordance with Policy LH10 of this 
Plan; and  

b) would not result in harm to the character of the area or the loss of public or private 
open spaces that contribute positively to the local character of the area (including 
residential gardens); and  

c) does not need substantial new infrastructure or other facilities to support it; and d) 
would not displace an existing viable use such as employment, leisure or community 
facility”  

8.5. Housing Land Supply – a Housing Land Availability Study South Northants Area from 
May 2021 demonstrates that there is a supply of 6.23 years of deliverable housing sites, 
and this supersedes the April 2020 Study which found there was a supply of 8.26 years 
of deliverable sites.  

Assessment  

8.6. Overall, therefore, the proposal is considered to comply with the Development Plan 
policies relevant to housing delivery. The principle of development is directly supported 
by the relevant development plan policies outlined above. It will make a significant 
contribution to meeting local housing need and five-year housing land supply. There are 
no material considerations indicating the principle of development should not be 
regarded as acceptable. 

The Viability of the development and affordable housing 

Policy Context 

8.7. Policy H2 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Policy LH8 of the South 
Northamptonshire LPP2.   

8.8. The affordable housing offered on this site is 10%.  This is significantly lower than the 
Council’s normal policy requirement of 40% affordable housing.   

Assessment 

8.9. The viability assessment has been robustly examined and officers have been back to 
the applicants on several occasions to provide additional information and justification for 
their position.  The completed viability assessment does show that development is not 
viable as the build costs for housing developments are increasing at a much faster rate 
than house prices and there are several additional costs relative to site specifics.  The 
site to the north-west also underwent a thorough examination as part of the viability 
assessment and similar figures have been used to assess this site also.   

8.10. Overall, therefore, the general principle of the proposal is considered acceptable (subject 
to assessment of individual materials considerations below).  

Highway Safety  

Policy context  

8.11. Policy SS2(1J) of the Part 2 Local Plan requires development to achieve a safe and 
suitable means of access for all people. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF explains that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds where the 

Page 24



residual cumulative impacts are severe, or the proposal has an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety.  

Assessment  

8.12. Overall, the LHA does not object to the scheme. However, it has raised concerns over 
parking provision as well as requesting S106 requirements.  For example, the LHA has 
pointed out that it does not support single garages as parking spaces and that double 
garages are only considered as one space. However, the proposal takes the same 
design approach as that agreed on the site to the north, and officers consider this 
approach to be acceptable in this instance.     

8.13. Whilst not wholly favoured by the LHA, the applicants have provided adequate parking 
provision.  It follows the design ethos of the site to the north, as well as adding in the 
requested footpath close to plot 53 to allow for better pedestrian connectivity.    

Design/Layout and Impact on Character of Area  

Policy Context  

8.14 The NPPF recognises the importance of delivering well-designed, attractive and healthy       
places. The creation of high-quality buildings and places is considered fundamental to 
what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development. Achieving high quality design is also a key strategic 
objective of the councils with appropriate policy safeguards set out in both the LPP1 and 
LPP2.  

8.15 Policy SS2 of the LPP2 sets out general development and design principles and seeks 
to protect the identity of its towns and villages; to ensure that development integrates 
with its surroundings and distinctive local character; provides a safe, accessible and 
inclusive environment; includes integral landscaping and sensitive lighting; provides a 
good standard of amenity, safe and suitable access and contributes to a healthy 
community.  

8.16 The Council adopted a Design Guide in 2017, which is a material planning consideration 
for all development throughout the district. This document establishes a benchmark for 
high quality design standards for new development; improves understanding of the 
specific character and context of South Northamptonshire and brings greater certainty to 
the design element of the planning process to help speed up delivery and maintain a 
high quality of development within the District.  

Assessment 

8.17 The S106 agreement linked to the outline planning application for the development to 
the north-west of the site stated that the development will be constructed in accordance 
with the Radstone Fields Design Code and includes the parking standards stated within 
the design code.  This was the case for the following reserved matters application and is 
followed as part of this application also.   

8.17 Layout - The layout is heavily influenced by the constraints of the site with a drainage 
easement which largely dictates the location and straightness of the spinal road, which 
then dictates the areas of housing. Whilst a different layout may have resulted without 
these constraints, considerable effort has been put in by the designers to both comply 
with the complex technical limitations of the site and provide a good housing layout.  

Page 25



8.18 The proposed parking provision within the development accords with the standards 
stated in the Radstone Fields Design Code. For the terraced dwellings the parking would 
be located in rear parking courts, about which the Police Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor has expressed some concerns. However, all the parking courts would have a 
robust 1.8 metre high brick wall to protect the area and would have single points of 
access and egress, which could be observed. In addition, the rear parking courts will, as 
has been the case for the Radstone Fields development, provide a more traditional street 
scene by removing cars from the road frontage.  

8.19 A design has been submitted for the children’s play area located towards the south of 
the site, the scale of which is marginally smaller than would normally be required for a 
development of this scale. However, final details of this space can be secured by 
condition.   

8.20 The site is separated from the existing residential development by the disused railway 
line and, given the distance between the existing and proposed residential areas, there 
will not be any loss of residential amenity to the existing residents by reason of 
overlooking or overbearing.  

8.21 It is considered that the layout proposed will achieve the character of development 
required by the Radstone Fields Design Code and is, therefore, acceptable. 

8.22 Appearance of the Development - The design of the dwellings proposed fits within the 
dwelling typologies set out in the Design Code. Policies S10, H4 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and SS2 and LH1 of Part 2 South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan.  

8.23 The design of the dwellings follows the Radstone Fields Design Code and will result in a 
design of dwellings that are in keeping with the local vernacular for south 
Northamptonshire. These typically have a wide front with a shallow plan depth with 
casement windows. The proposed materials are predominantly brick with a slate effect 
or tiled roof with the occasional painted/rendered property and three stone-built 
dwellings, which again accords with the Deign Code.  

8.24 The height of the dwellings are predominantly 2-storeys in height with one terrace of 
dwellings being 2.5 storey in height and a further three dwellings also being 2.5 storeys 
in height.  

8.25 The scale of development is in keeping with the neighbouring planning permission and 
the design code and the policies of the Development Plan. Furthermore, given the low-
lying nature of the site, it is considered that the development would not appear overly 
prominent in the street scene or the wider landscape. The proposed development is in 
accordance with the Design Code and will result in a high-quality development that also 
accords with the provisions of the Development Plan.  

8.26 Lighting – Low energy LED spotlighting is proposed throughout the scheme and will 
follow on from the scheme used on the neighbouring site.  It is important that the lighting 
is designed to minimise artificial light overspill beyond site boundaries. Lighting will be 
conditioned accordingly.   

8.27 Landscaping - New soft landscaping including trees and specimen plants are proposed 
to the perimeter of the site. Soft planting is also proposed within the site to soften the 
internal environment and break up hard paved areas.  

8.29 Having regard to the above assessment, the proposed development is considered 
acceptable in respect of its design and layout and its impact on the surrounding area and 

Page 26



does not conflict with the above-mentioned development plan policies subject to the 
attachment of relevant conditions. 

Environmental Protection  

Policy Context  

8.30 National planning policy in the NPPF recognises that focussing growth in sustainable 
locations can help reduce emissions and improve air quality and public health. Para 170 
states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by, amongst other things, preventing new and existing 
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. 
Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality. Para 180 states that planning policies and decision should 
take into account the effect of pollution on health and mitigate and reduce to a minimum 
potential adverse impact arising from noise and avoid noise giving rise to significant 
adverse impacts on health and quality of life. 

Ecology Impact 

Legislative context 

8.31 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 provide for the designation 
and protection of 'European sites' and 'European protected species' (EPS). Under the 
Regulations, competent authorities, such as the Council, have a general duty to have 
regard to the EC Habitats Directive and Wild Birds Directive.  

8.32 In terms of EPS, the Regulations make it an offence (subject to exceptions) to 
deliberately capture, kill, disturb, or trade in the animals listed in the Regulations, or pick, 
collect, cut, uproot, destroy, or trade in the plants listed therein. However, these actions 
can be made lawful through the granting of licenses by the appropriate authorities by 
meeting the requirements of 3 strict legal derogation tests: 

a. Is the development needed to preserve public health or public safety or other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment? 

b. That there is no satisfactory alternative. 

c. That the action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the 
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their 
natural range. 

Policy Context 

8.33. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that Planning policies and decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst others): a) protecting and 
enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils; and d) 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 175 states that 
planning authorities should refuse planning permission if significant harm to biodiversity 
cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for and 
should support development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
biodiversity. Opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around 

Page 27



developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable net 
gains for biodiversity. 

8.34 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should also ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on the natural environment, as well as the potential 
sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development. 
In doing so they should (amongst others) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial 
light on nature conservation. 

8.35 National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that Local Planning Authorities should 
only require ecological surveys where clearly justified, for example if there is a 
reasonable likelihood of a protected species being present and affected by development. 
Assessments should be proportionate to the nature and scale of development proposed 
and the likely impact on biodiversity. 

8.36 Policy NE3 of the Part 2 LP seeks to conserve and wherever possible enhance green 
infrastructure. Policy NE4 seeks to protect and integrate existing trees and hedgerows 
wherever possible and requires new planting schemes to use native or similar species 
and varieties to maximise benefits to the local landscape and wildlife. Policy NE5 
requires that proposals aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity in 
order to provide measurable net gains. Development proposals will not be permitted 
where they would result in significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity, including 
protected species and sites of international, national and local significance, ancient 
woodland, and species and habitats of principal importance identified in the United 
Kingdom Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework. 

8.37 Policy BN2 of the JCS 2014 states that development that will maintain and enhance 
existing designations and assets or deliver a net gain in biodiversity will be supported. 
Development that has the potential to harm sites of ecological importance will be subject 
to an ecological assessment and required to demonstrate: 1) the methods used to 
conserve biodiversity in its design and construction and operation 2) how habitat 
conservation, enhancement and creation can be achieved through linking habitats 3) 
how designated sites, protected species and priority habitats will be safeguarded. In 
cases where it can be shown that there is no reasonable alternative to development that 
is likely to prejudice the integrity of an existing wildlife site or protected habitat 
appropriate mitigation measures including compensation will be expected in proportion 
to the asset that will be lost. Where mitigation or compensation cannot be agreed with 
the relevant authority development will not be permitted. 

Assessment 

8.38 Natural England’s Standing Advice states that an LPA only needs to ask an applicant to 
carry out a survey if it’s likely that protected species are present on or near the proposed 
site. The Standing Advice sets out habitats that may have the potential for protected 
species. In this case the site consists of mainly species poor grass dominated semi-
improved grassland with ridge and furrow patterns, with hedgerows on the northeast and 
southeast boundaries, areas of dense scrub and tall ruderal vegetation and therefore 
has the potential to be suitable habitat for a variety of species including EPS. 

8.39 To discharge its legal duty under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 the LPA must firstly assess whether an offence under the Regulations is likely to 
be committed. If so, the LPA should then consider whether Natural England would be 
likely to grant a licence for the development. In so doing the authority has to consider 
itself whether the development meets the 3 derogation tests listed above. 

Page 28



8.40 In respect of planning applications and the Council discharging of its legal duties, case 
law has shown that if it is clear/ very likely that Natural England will not grant a licence 
then the Council should refuse planning permission; if it is likely or unclear whether 
Natural England will grant the licence then the Council may grant planning permission. 

8.41 No statutory designated sites fall within the site or within the zone of influence. A non-
statutory designated site of Brackley Pocket Park potential Local Wildlife Site (pLWS No. 
S553) a disused railway line runs along the north-eastern site boundary. Indirect impacts 
on the pLWS e.g. pollution as a result of construction activities requires mitigation, the 
EcIA details how this is to be dealt with through a Construction Ecological Management 
Plan (CEMP) and can be secured through a suitably worded condition. 

8.42 The species poor grass dominated semi-improved grassland was detailed as being of 
low ecological value. Most of the grassland will be lost to development there is a need to 
compensate for the loss and ensure a net gain in biodiversity is achieved in line with 
NPPF and the emerging stipulations from Environment Act 2021 making 10% net gain 
mandatory from November 2023. Mitigation measures are detailed in the submitted EcIA 
including the production of a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to 
manage on site retained and created habitats to benefit local wildlife, this is welcomed 
and should be included in a suitably worded condition. 

8.43 The hedgerows on the north-east and south-east boundaries are features of ecological 
interest these have been assessed by the EcIA as being a habitat of principal importance 
and having district level value, the HEGS assessment assessed them as being 
‘moderate’. The EcIA details that the hedgerows will be retained apart from small section 
by plots 29/30 however the Tree Protection Plan on page 30 of the Arb Impact 
Assessment, paragraph 5.1 indicate the hedgerow Page 2 of 4 along the northeast 
boundary to the disused railway line is to be removed for the installation of fencing. 

8.44 The Soft Landscape Plan appears to indicate its removal and replacement with a path 
and grassland planting. The Soft landscape Plan also identifies native hedgerow of 82 
field maples to be planted along the southerly end of the northeast boundary. 

8.45 Trees within the site boundary were assessed to have negligible suitability for roosting 
bats due to their semi-mature nature they did not support features suitable for roosting 
bats e.g. cracks and fissures. The site has potential for foraging and commuting bats 
with the site being considered as moderate, with loss of habitat this is likely to have a not 
significant negative effect, however it is anticipated that the landscaping scheme can 
mitigate for loss of habitat. 

8.46 Mitigation is outlined with in the EcIA with the installation of four bat tubes within the 
finished residential units. Future lighting on site should avoid increased illumination of 
the trees, hedgerows, adjacent disused railway line and lake to avoid impacts on light 
sensitive species e.g. badgers and bats. Lighting should be kept to a minimum in the 
surrounds of these areas and any light spill into these areas avoided. Following the BCT 
& IPL Guidance Note 08/18 Bats and artificial lighting. Sensitive lighting measures are 
proposed and can be conditioned accordingly. 

8.47 The site was considered by the EcIA to be of Local Value for breeding birds with only 
two confirmed species breeding which are green listed, a number are probable/possible 
breeding according to the survey/EcIA some of which are red/amber listed species. 
There is considered a likely negative (not significant) impact on birds on through the loss 
of grassland, hedgerow, trees and scrub habitat. Mitigation measures are detailed in 
document with appropriate timing of works and nest checks. Enhancements for birds 
include planting of native tree, shrubs and hedgerows three swift boxes, four sparrow 

Page 29



terraces and four starling nest boxes to be integrated into the finished residential units 
and three bird boxes erected on the retained trees. 

8.48 No evidence of reptiles was found during the surveys, the risk of impact is therefore 
considered low, mitigation measures are included and should be followed. Two ponds 
within 500m were assessed as having suitable habitat for Great Crested Newts, these 
were surveyed which found no evidence of Great Crested Newts (GCN). The impact on 
Great Crested Newts has been assessed it is considered that the species is unlikely to 
be present within the site or affected by the proposals. 

8.49 No evidence of badgers was found within the application site, there is potential for 
impacts on Badgers during the construction phase of the development. Mitigation 
measures should be followed as detailed in the EcIA. 

8.50 The habitats created to achieve the net gain in biodiversity will need to be managed 
appropriately for a sufficient period of time to ensure the net gain is secured, I therefore 
recommend a LEMP is conditioned which should cover a 30-year period in line with 
DEFRA guidance. The LEMP should include monitoring points with results feedback to 
LPA on the achievement of net gain at these points. 

8.51 Based on the findings of the reports it is unlikely that the development proposed will have 
a significant impact on protected species if the mitigation, recommendations and 
enhancements identified in section 6 and 7 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) 
by Brindle and Green dated 21st April 2022, are followed fully and successfully. 

8.52 The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied that the level of surveys undertaken, and the 
methodology followed are appropriate and fit for purpose, and that they follow the 
appropriate industry guidelines and best practice. Conditions are recommended. 

8.53 Officers are satisfied, based on the advice from the Council’s Ecologist, and subject to 
conditions, that the welfare of any EPS found to be present at the site and surrounding 
land will continue and be safeguarded notwithstanding the proposed development and 
that the Council’s statutory obligations in relation to protected species and habitats under 
the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, have been met and 
discharged. 

8.54 However, it has not been demonstrated using the DEFRA metric how a net gain in 
biodiversity will be achieved and the Soft Landscaping Plan submitted seems unlikely to 
achieve a net gain in biodiversity from the small areas of wildflower grassland and tree, 
shrub and hedgerow planting proposed. 

8.55 A Biodiversity Impact Assessment (BIA) is referred to in the EcIA, but this has not been 
submitted. The application involves a net biodiversity loss of 13.19 habitat units or -82%. 
It is possible to partially compensate against this by requiring a financial contribution 
towards off site bio-diversity enhancements. The financial contribution in this case would 
be given to the Council towards biodiversity enhancements in the local area (as the other 
land parcel in the developer’8.56s ownership - Phase 1 – is already a construction site). 

8.56 As explained earlier in the report the applicant has undertaken a viability assessment 
and due to abnormal costs and other relevant financial considerations the scheme 
cannot viably support any more than 8 one-bedroom units. A £40,000 contribution 
towards biodiversity enhancements has been requested; the size of contribution is the 
most the scheme can sustain without reducing the level of affordable housing provided 
or reducing any other section 106 contributions. 

 

Page 30



Flooding and Drainage  

Policy Context  
 
8.57 LPP1 Policy BH7 requires appropriate flood risk assessment to be completed and for 

development not to result in an increased risk of flooding to existing or proposed 
properties. Policy SS2 of the Part 2 Local Plan also requires development to be 
adequately serviced with infrastructure and to consider flood risk. 

 
 Assessment 
 
8.58 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The site lies within FZ1 

and risk from fluvial flooding is considered low. The proposed use is one which is suitable 
for such a location. 

 
8.59 It can be seen from the surface water flood map that the site is shown to have a low risk 

of flooding, although an area along the southern boundary (outside of the site boundary) 
is shown to have a high risk from surface flooding (FZ3). 

 
8.60 The LLFA have requested further information in respect of surface water drainage and 

this information has been received and further comments sought. A written or verbal 
update will be provided to Members. 

 
9. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

S106 contributions  
 
9.01 Policy LH8 of the LPP2 requires provision of 40% on site affordable housing. However, 

following review of the viability assessment the affordable housing provision has been 
reduced to 8 units equating to 10% provision.   The mix and tenure of those units (as 
amended) is considered acceptable. This will be secured with the S106 agreement.  

 
9.02 Financial Contributions are also required in relation to:  
 

• Primary Education  
• Early Years Education  
• Libraries  
• Primary Health Care  
• Public transport  
• Provision of wheelie bins for each unit  
• Financial contribution towards the maintenance of the open space.  

 
9.03 Secondary education needs would be met via CIL funding.  
 
9.04 The full Heads of Terms for the S106 are set out in the recommendation below. 

 
10 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

 
10.01 Legislation requires that planning applications be determined in accordance with the 

provisions of the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
The NPPF, at paragraph 11, states that decisions should apply a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. For decision taking this means approving development 
proposal that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 

Page 31



 
10.02 As set out above, it is considered that the development proposed accords with an up-

to-date development plan, and it is considered that on balance the proposal would 
result in sustainable development. The development would create economic benefits 
for the town and wider district, would be appropriately designed and laid out, can be 
accessed safely by both vehicles, motorcyclists, cyclists and pedestrians and without 
significant adverse effects on the highway network. Measures to protect and enhance 
biodiversity can be secured and matters of environmental protection can be addressed, 
if necessary, through attaching suitable conditions. 

 
10.03 Assuming the concerns of the Surface Water Drainage Team can be satisfactorily 

addressed the scheme will not cause flooding off-site nor will it have any other 
significant adverse environmental impact that would warrant the refusal of planning 
permission. 

 
10.04 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF emphasises that there are three dimensions to sustainable 

development: economic, social and environmental. The proposals address each of 
three dimensions to deliver a sustainable development 

 
10.05 In light of the above appraisal it is considered that the planning balance in this case 

comes down in favour of approval. It is therefore recommended that planning 
permission be granted for the development, subject to the resolution of the outstanding 
matters, the imposition of the conditions (draft listed in the attached schedule) and the 
completion of a satisfactory Section 106 Agreement. 

 
 
11 RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS 
 
11.1 Detailed recommendation here and full list of conditions and reasons here 

 
RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS DELEGATE TO THE 
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR GROWTH, CLIMATE AND REGENERATION TO 
GRANT PERMISSION, SUBJECT TO:  
 
1. THE CONDITIONS SET OUT BELOW (AND ANY AMENDMENTS TO THOSE 
CONDITIONS AS DEEMED NECESSARY) AND  
 
2. NO FURTHER OBJECTIONS FROM THE LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY AND  
 
3. THE COMPLETION OF A PLANNING OBLIGATION UNDER SECTION 106 OF THE 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990, AS SUBSTITUTED BY THE 
PLANNING AND COMPENSATION ACT 1991, TO SECURE THE FOLLOWING (AND 
ANY AMENDMENTS AS DEEMED NECESSARY):  
 
a) Provision of 10% affordable housing on site  
b) Accessibility standards to comply with SNP2LP policy LH10.2(a)  
c) Payment of a financial contribution towards the provision of refuse/recycling 
bins for the development of £4,970.00 (index linked)  
d) Payment of a financial contribution towards secondary educational 
infrastructure serving the development of £260,992.00 (index linked).  
e) Payment of a financial contribution towards early years educational 
infrastructure serving the development of £251,476 (index linked).  
f) Payment of a financial contribution towards library infrastructure serving the 
development of £15,540 (index linked).  
g) Payment of a financial contribution towards primary health care provision 

Page 32



serving the development of £36,096.73 (index linked)  
h) Payment of a financial contribution towards public transport serving the 
development of £71,000.00 (index linked).  
i) The LHA require the applicant to provide 4-week or one month bus ticket for the 
local area, at one per unit on first occupation. 
j) Payment of the Council’s monitoring costs of £5,000.00.  
 
TIME LIMITS AND GENERAL IMPLEMENTATION CONDITIONS 
 
Time limit 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason : To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 
 
Approved plans 
 
2. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with 
the approved plans and details unless a non-material or minor material amendment is 
approved by the Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). The 
approved plans and details are: [to be completed prior to issuing decision] 
 
Reason : To clarify the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Avoid bird nesting season 
 
3. All site clearance (including the removal of any vegetation or works to hedgerows) 
should be timed so as to avoid the bird nesting season, this being during the months of 
March until July inclusive unless alternative provisions have been previously agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
Reason : To ensure that the development will conserve and enhance the natural 
environment and will not cause significant harm to any protected species or its habitat 
in accordance with the Government's aim to achieve sustainable development as set out 
in Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Ecological appraisal 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations set out in sections 6, 7 and 8 of the Ecological Appraisal by Brindle 
and Green Ecological Impact Assessment Ecology, dated April 2022, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason : To protect habitats and/or species of importance to nature conservation from 
significant harm in accordance with the Government's aim to achieve sustainable 
development as set out in Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 33



CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL OR TO 
BE COMPLIED WITH BEFORE ANY DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES  
 
Levels  
 
5. No development shall take place take place until details of all finished floor levels in 
relation to existing and proposed site levels and to the adjacent buildings have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
hereby permitted shall be constructed in accordance with the approved levels. 
 
Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with advice 
within Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required 
prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of 
the scheme. 
 
Tree protection 
 
6. No development shall take place until the existing tree(s) to be retained have been 
protected in the following manner unless otherwise previously agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority;  
 
a) Protective barriers shall be erected around the tree(s) to a distance not less than a 
radius of 12 times the trunk diameter when measured at 1.5m above natural ground 
level (on the highest side) for single stemmed trees and for multi-stemmed trees 10 
times the trunk diameter just above the root flare. 
 
b) The barriers shall comply with the specification set out in British Standard 
BS5837:2012 ‘Trees in Relation to Construction – Recommendations’ that is steel mesh 
panels at least 2.3m tall securely fixed to a scaffold pole framework with the uprights 
driven into the ground a minimum of 0.6m depth and braced with additional scaffold 
poles between the barrier and the tree[s] at a minimum spacing of 3m.  
 
c) The barriers shall be erected before any equipment, machinery or materials are 
brought onto the site for the purposes of development [and / or demolition] and shall 
be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus material has been removed 
from the site.  
 
d) Nothing shall be stored or placed within the areas protected by the barriers erected 
in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be 
altered, nor shall any excavations be made, without the written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason : To ensure the continued health of retained trees/hedges and to ensure that 
they are not adversely affected by the construction works, in the interests of the visual 
amenity of the area, to ensure the integration of the development into the existing 
landscape and to comply with Policies SS2 and NE5 of the South Northamptonshire Local 
Plan and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. This information is required prior to commencement of the development as 
it is fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme. 
 
Land contamination 
 
7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until:  

Page 34



 
(a) a desk study and site walk over to identify all potential contaminative uses on site, 
and to inform the conceptual site model has been carried out by a competent person 
and in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’, and  
 
(b) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
development shall take place until the Local Planning Authority has given its written 
approval that it is satisfied that no potential risk from contamination has been identified. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and adequately 
addressed to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the 
site is suitable for the proposed use to comply with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is 
required prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the  
acceptability of the scheme. 
 
Land contamination 
 
8. If a potential risk from contamination is identified as a result of the work carried out 
under condition 7 above, then no part of the development hereby permitted shall take 
place until: 
 
(a) a comprehensive intrusive investigation to characterise the type, nature and extent 
of contamination present has been carried out; 
 
(b) the risks to receptors and to inform the remediation strategy proposals has been 
documented as a report undertaken by a competent person and in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’ and  
 
(c) both (a) and (b) above has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
No development shall take place unless the Local Planning Authority has given its written 
approval that it is satisfied that the risk from contamination has been adequately 
characterised as required by this condition. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is adequately addressed 
to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the site is 
suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to commencement 
of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme. 
 
9. If contamination is found by undertaking the work carried out under condition 8, then 
no development hereby permitted shall take place until  
 
(a) a scheme of remediation and/or monitoring to ensure the site is suitable for its 
proposed use has been prepared by a competent person and in accordance with DEFRA 
and the Environment Agency's ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’ and  

Page 35



 
(b) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
development shall take place until the Local Planning Authority has given its written 
approval of the scheme of remediation and/or monitoring required by this condition. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is adequately addressed 
to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the site is 
suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to commencement 
of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of  
the scheme. 
 
Archaeology 
 
10. No development shall take place until the applicant (or their agents or successors in 
title) has submitted to and had approved in writing by the local planning authority a 
programme of archaeological work consisting of a written scheme of investigation and a 
timetable for that work. The development shall thereafter proceed in accordance with 
the approved written scheme of investigation and timetable. 
 
Completion of a Post-Excavation Assessment report and approval of an approved 
Updated Project Design shall be submitted within six months of the completion of 
fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority; 
 
Completion of analysis, preparation of site archive ready for deposition at a store 
(Northamptonshire ARC) approved by the Planning Authority, production of an archive 
report, and submission of a publication report shall be completed within two years of the 
completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To secure the provision of archaeological investigation and the subsequent 
recording of the remains, to comply with Government advice in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) (Section 16). This information is required prior to 
commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the 
scheme. 
 
Construction and environmental management plan 
 
11. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition until a 
Construction Method Statement [for that phase] has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall provide for at a minimum: 
a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) The routeing of HGVs to and from the site; 
c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
 e) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative  
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
f) Wheel washing facilities including type of operation (automated, water  
recycling etc) and road sweeping; 
g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 
h) A scheme for recycling/ disposing of waste resulting from demolition and  
construction works;  
i) Delivery, demolition and construction working hours;  

Page 36



j) Measures to control overspill of light from security lighting 
 
The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period for the development.  
 
Reason : To ensure the environment is protected during construction in accordance with 
Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required 
prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of 
the scheme.  
 
Pumping Station 
 
11. Prior to use a noise assessment that outlines the likely impact on any noise sensitive 
property, and the measures necessary to ensure that the noise does not affect the local 
amenity of residents shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The assessment shall be determined by measurement or prediction in 
accordance with the guidance and methodology set out in BS4142: 2014. Once 
approved the use hereby permitted shall be operated in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter maintained in this approved state at all times.  
 
Reason: In the interest of safeguarding residential amenity and reducing pollution in 
accordance with Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 
 
 
CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL OR TO 
BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION WORKS TAKE 
PLACE 
 
Materials 
 
12. A schedule of materials and finishes to be used in the external walls and roof(s) of 
the dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of those works. The development shall thereafter be 
completed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason : To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the locality 
and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in accordance 
with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan Policy and Government 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Landscaping 
 
14. A scheme for landscaping the site shall be provided to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority which shall include:- 
 
(a) details of the proposed tree and shrub planting including their species, number, sizes 
and positions, together with grass seeded/turfed areas and written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment 
i.e. depth of topsoil, mulch etc), 
 
(b) details of the existing trees and hedgerows to be retained as well as those to be 
felled, including existing and proposed soil levels at the base of each tree/hedgerow and 

Page 37



the minimum distance between the base of the tree and the nearest edge of any 
excavation, 
 
(c) details of the hard landscaping including hard surface areas, pavements, pedestrian 
areas and steps. 
 
(d) details of the LEAP (including details of any proposed equipment, benches and bins, 
surfacing, enclosures, etc.) 
 
Such details shall be provided prior to the development progressing above slab level or 
such alternative time frame as agreed in writing by the developer and the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented by the end of the first planting 
season following occupation of the development. 
 
Reason : To ensure that a satisfactory landscape scheme is provided in the interest of 
well planned development and visual amenity and to accord with Policies SS2 of the 
South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Foul drainage 
 
15. Prior to construction of any dwelling above slab level, details of a scheme for on-site 
foul water drainage works, including connection point and discharge rate, must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Prior to the 
occupation of any Phase, the foul drainage works relating to that Phase must be 
completed.  
 
Reason : To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding and to 
accord with Sections 14 and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
16.Surface Water Condition tbc and to be added, where applicable. 
 
Architectural detailing 
 
17. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, further details of the 
architectural detailing of the exterior of the development, including the windows and 
doors (and their surrounds), the eaves and verge treatment, chimneys, porches and 
garage doors shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the construction of the building above slab level. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 
SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan. 
 
Meter boxes 
 
18. Full details of the siting, appearance and colour of any electricity or gas supply meter 
housings to be located on the external elevations of the buildings shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the construction of the building 
above slab level. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details 
 
Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 

Page 38



SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan. 
 
Noise mitigation 
 
19. No development above slab level shall take place until a scheme for achieving the 
external and internal noise levels outlined in BS8233:2014 and World Health 
Organisation Guidelines has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Any works which form part of the scheme shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details before any of the permitted dwellings to which the 
scheme relates are occupied.  
 
Reason : To avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality 
of life and to comply with advice in the NPPF (section 15) and Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan. 
 
Boundary treatments 
 
20. No dwelling shall be constructed above slab level until full details of the enclosures 
along all boundaries and within the site (including how they respond to changes in 
ground level) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and such means of enclosure, in respect of those dwellings which it is intended 
shall be screened, shall be erected prior to the first occupation of those dwellings. 
 
Reason : To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development, to 
safeguard the privacy of the occupants of the existing and proposed dwellings and to 
comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan. 
 
External lighting 
 
21. No dwelling shall be constructed above slab level until details of the external lighting 
(street lighting and any lighting to shared driveways, parking courts and public open 
space), including the design, position, orientation and any screening of the lighting, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting 
shall be installed and operated in accordance with the approved scheme at all times 
thereafter. 
 
CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL OR TO 
BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE OCCUPATION  
 
Land contamination remediation 
 
22. If remedial works have been identified in condition 8, the development shall not be 
occupied until the remedial works have been carried out in accordance with the scheme 
approved under condition 8. A verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of 
the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is adequately addressed 
to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the site is 
suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 39



Fire hydrants 
 
23. The development shall provide 4 fire hydrants within the site. No construction shall 
start on any dwelling until a scheme detailing the provision of fire hydrants and their 
associated infrastructure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The fire hydrants and associated infrastructure shall thereafter be 
provided in accordance with the approved scheme prior to the occupation of the 200th 
dwelling (or flat). 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site for the local 
fire service to tackle any property fire.  
 
EV charging 
 
24. No dwelling hereby permitted (with a garage or driveway) shall be occupied until it 
has been provided with electric charging equipment of AC Level 2 (or equipment 
providing for no lesser standard of efficiency) to serve that dwelling. 
 
Reason : To comply with Policy S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
and Policy INF4 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2, and to maximise 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes in accordance with paragraph 110(e) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Stonework 
 
25. The external walls of the dwelling(s) to be faced in stone shall be constructed in 
natural guillotine-cut rubble limestone which shall be laid, dressed, coursed and pointed 
in accordance with a sample panel (minimum 1 metre squared in size) which shall be 
constructed on site to be inspected and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before the respective dwelling(s) is constructed above slab level. The sample 
panel shall be constructed in a position that is protected and readily accessible for 
viewing in good natural daylight from a distance of 3 metres. The panel shall be retained 
on site for the duration of the construction contract. 
 
Reason : To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the locality 
and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in accordance 
with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan. Required to be 
approved pre-commencement in order to ensure material delivery leadin times do not 
compromise construction. 
 
26. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a Landscape and 
Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the LEMP shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason : To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation from any loss or 
damage in accordance with Policy BN2 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
and Government guidance contained within Section 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
CONDITIONS TO BE COMPLIED WITH AT ALL TIMES  
 
Unexpected contamination 

Page 40



 
27. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site, no further development shall be carried out until full details of a remediation 
strategy detailing how the unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 
remediation strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and adequately 
addressed to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the 
site is suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core and 
Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Landscaping maintenance 
 
28. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the 
building(s) and shall be maintained for a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development. Any trees and/or shrubs which within a period of five years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent for any variation. 
 
Reason : To ensure that the agreed landscaping scheme is maintained over a reasonable 
period that will permit its establishment in the interests of visual amenity and to accord 
with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number:

Parish:

Town\Village:

Site Area:  

Grid Location:

Map Scale: 1:2500

Electricity

Sub Sta

9

Dra
in

D
ef

Track

El Sub Sta

Site

El

Jordan Technology Park

1.22m
 R

H

15

8

4

Path

Barns

1

El Sub Sta

Und

1.22m RH

Def Distribution

Pond

1.22m RH

Def

Litchlake
Litchlake Farm

Dra
in

1.22m RH

D
AD

FO
R

D
 R

O
AD

D
AD

FO
R

D
 R

O
AD

WNS/2022/1468/MAF

Syresham CP

Silverstone 

1.9363 Ha

SP6660242391

©  C rown  Copyrigh t. A ll righ ts  and  da tabase  righ ts  reserved . 
W est Northamp tonsh ire  Counc il 100063706  2022

Special Landscape AreaSite

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number:

Parish:

Map Scale: 1:2500

Date Flown: 'Latest Available'

WNS/2022/1468/MAF

Syresham CP

©  Copyrigh t B luesky W orld  In terna tiona l L td  2022

Site
Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: WNS/2022/1468/MAF 
 
Location:  Aston Martin F1, Buckingham Road, Silverstone, Northamptonshire, 

NN12 8TJ 
 
Proposal: Demolition of the existing building and construction of new ancillary 

building to house support services and facilities to Aston Martin’s F1 
Headquarters, the provision of a link between this and the recently 
approved wind tunnel and HQ, and associated works. 

 
 

Applicant:   Aston Martin Cognizant Formula One    
 
Agent:   Ridge            
 
Case Officer:  Rebecca Smith  
 
 
Ward:    Silverstone   
     
 
Reason for Referral:  Major application 
 
Committee Date:  06/04/2023    
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
 
Proposal  
The proposed development includes the demolition of the original building on the site and 
construction of a new staff amenity building. The proposed building is 5566sq.m over two floors 
with associated parking and landscaping. It is located between the approved new HQ and 
Wind Tunnel buildings. Pedestrian bridges will link the three buildings at first floor level. 
 
Consultations 
No consultees have raised objections to the application: 

 
The following consultees have raised no objections to the application: 

• Planning Policy, Environment Agency, National Highways, Local Highways Authority, 
Environmental Protection, Archaeology, Anglian Water, Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor, Developer Contributions, Building Control, Lead Local Flood Authority, 
Ecology. 
 

The following consultees are in support of the application: 
• Syresham Parish Council, Economic Development 

 
There have been no third party or neighbour responses received. 
 
Conclusion  
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.  

Page 47



 
The key issues arising from the application details are:  

• Principle of Development 
• Design, Layout and Impact on Landscape and Character of Area 
• Environmental Impact, Noise, Air Quality and Lighting 
• Highway Safety 
• Residential Amenity 
• Drainage 
• Archaeology 
• Ecology 
• Minerals Safeguarding Area 

 
The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the 
proposal is acceptable subject to conditions.  

 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
 
MAIN REPORT  
 
1. APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  

 
1.1 The Aston Martin site is located to the west of Silverstone Circuit and is separated by 

the dual carriageway of Dadford Road. To the north the site is open apart from a small 
collection of farm buildings and residential dwellings. Silverstone Rally School lies to 
the northwest. Beyond this the site gives way to open countryside and the land slopes 
away gradually, this is then punctuated by the Silverstone Bypass (A43). To the east is 
Dadford Road and the Race Circuit, to the West substantial woodland (identified as 
Ancient Woodland - ‘Lodge Copse/The Straights’), and to the South lies Buckingham 
Road Industrial Estate.  
 

1.2 The application site is at the centre of the 13.1ha Aston Martin site and currently 
accommodates the original Aston Martin building, which would be demolished to make 
way for the development. It is located to the west of the approved new Aston Martin 
Formula 1 Team HQ Building, and to the east of the approved Wind Tunnel. 
 

1.3 The site is currently accessed from the Dadford Road via an existing single-track road. 
A Public Bridleway (ref no: LID/13/1) runs along this single-track road and then out into 
the countryside to the west. The new HQ consent includes a new entrance and access 
road which is being formed directly off the Dadford Road. This new entrance will provide 
access to the application site. 

 
2. CONSTRAINTS 

 
2.1. The application site is within: 

 
• Mineral Safeguarding Area 
• 2km buffer of Local Wildlife Sites: 

o Bucknell Wood, Site ID: S328 
o Syresham Meadow, Site ID: S1468 

Page 48



o Hazelborough Woods, Site ID: S530 
o Cheese Copse, Site ID: S374 
o Foxhole Copse, Site ID: S334 
o Wild Wood, Site ID: S304 

• Technical Site Safeguarding Map for Wind Turbine Developments 
• Aerodrome Consults, Height Consultation: 15m Obstacles 
• Low Risk of Surface Water Flooding 
• Flood Zone 1 
• Special Landscape Area - Whittlewood Forest and Hazelborough Forest 
• Archaeological Assets: 

o Silverstone Airfield (WWII), Monument ID: MNN17558 
o Syresham/Brackley Hatch, Monument ID: MNN115767 

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

 
3.1. The proposed development includes the demolition of the original building on the site 

and construction of a new staff amenity building. The proposed building is 5566sq.m over 
two floors with associated parking and landscaping. It is located between the approved 
new HQ and Wind Tunnel buildings. Pedestrian bridges will link the three buildings at 
first floor level. 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 

4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:  
 
Application Ref. Proposal Decision 
WNS/2022/0642/MAF Variation of condition 2 (plans) of 

WNS/2021/1594/MAF (Wind Tunnel Facility 
consisting of a wind tunnel with associated 
machinery and test sections, ancillary office with 
associated access, reconfiguration of parking, 
landscaping and associated works) Relocation of 
the proposed building further east closer to the 
existing building and service yard, reduction in the 
overall height of the building, minor amendments to 
the parking layout and amendments to the overall 
footprint of the building. 

Approved 

WNS/2021/1917/FUL Construction of a temporary modular workshop 
building. 

Approved 

WNS/2021/1594/MAF Wind Tunnel Approved 
WNS/2021/1393/SCR EIA Screening Opinion for wind tunnel building EA not required 
WNS/2021/1271/FUL Retrospective consent for retention of 10 

portacabins and placement of a further 28 
portacabins 

Approved 

WNS/2021/0833/NMA Non-Material Amendment - S/2021/0435/MAF Approved 
S/2021/0435/MAF Variation of condition 2 of S/2019/1490/MAF to 

increase the footprint of the consented building, 
including a reduction in height and changes to 
fenestration.  Plant compound footprint increased, 
and reconfiguration of the site layout to include 
changes to the internal roads and parking.
  

Approved 

S/2021/0166/FUL     Retention of additional car parking for the 
headquarters Aston Martin Formula One Team 
(Part Retrospective). 

Approved 

S/2020/0444/NMA     Non material amendment to S/2019/1490/MAF Approved  

Page 49



S/2019/1490/MAF    New building to house headquarters with 
workshops and design office with associated 
access, parking and landscaping. 

Approved 

S/2019/0349/FUL New canteen facility (Retrospective) Approved 
S/2018/2829/SCR EIA Screening opinion for proposed construction of 

new operational headquarters 
EA not required 

S/2014/2314/FUL Additional car parking for headquarters of Force     
India Formula One Team (temporary consent for a 
term of five years) 

Approved  

 
 
5. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

 
Statutory Duty 
 

5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 
Development Plan 
 

5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local 
Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 
15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy framework for the 
District to 2029, the adopted South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) and adopted 
Neighbourhood Plans.  The relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan 
are set out below: 
 
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1) 
 

5.3. The relevant polices of the LPP1 are: 
 

• SA – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
• S1 – Distribution of Development  
• S7 – Provision of Jobs 
• S8 – Distribution of Jobs 
• S10 – Sustainable Development Principles 
• S11 – Low Carbon and Renewable Energy 
• E1 – Existing Employment Areas 
• R2 – Rural Economy 

 
South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) (LPP2) 
 

5.4. The relevant policies of the LPP2 are: 
• SS2 – General Development and Design Principles 
• EMP1 – Supporting Skills 
• EMP2 – Existing Commercial Sites 
• EMP3 – New Employment Development 
• INF4 – Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
• NE2 – Special Landscape Areas 
• NE4 – Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
• NE5 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 
 
 

Page 50



Material Considerations 
 

5.5. Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations 
 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
• Supplementary Planning Guidance – Silverstone Circuit Development Brief 
• South Northamptonshire Design Guide 

 
6. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 

Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website, via the online 
Planning Register. 
 
Consultee Name Position Comment 
Silverstone 
Parish Council 

No response 
received 

 

Syresham Parish 
Council 

Support  

Planning Policy No objection No objection to the principle of 
development, subject to the requirements 
of the original consent being complied with 
and other development management 
considerations being considered 
acceptable. 
 

National 
Highways 

No objection Acknowledge that the relocation of the 
staff to Building 2 will not result in changes 
to the staff numbers and that the total 
number of staff for the whole site will 
remain the same as previously consented. 
Therefore, do not anticipate an increase in 
the number of vehicles on the Strategic 
Road Network. The Transport Assessment 
states that the number of parking spaces 
will remain the same as previously 
approved. 
 

Local Highways 
Authority  

No objection Notes no change to the access 
arrangements, parking allocation or 
staffing numbers. As previously detailed at 
the site vehicular and cycle parking will be 
monitored and additional spaces allocated 
as required. 
Application site not affected by a Public 
Right of Way. 
 

Environmental 
Protection 

No objection 
subject to 
conditions 

Request conditions regarding: 
• Noise – plant (i.e. refrigeration units 

and condensers/ heat pump)  
• Noise & Odour - Kitchen Extractor 
• Construction Management Plan 

Page 51



• Contaminated Land 
• External Lighting 
• Electric vehicle charging infrastructure 

Planning 
Archaeology 
WNC (NNC) 

No objection The archaeological requirements in 
connection with previous applications have 
been met. No further comments to make in 
respect of the new proposals. 
 

Environment 
Agency 

No objection Provides comments for the applicant in 
relation to foul and surface water drainage. 
 

Anglian Water No objection 
subject to 
conditions 

No objection subject to a condition 
requiring a scheme for on-site foul water 
drainage works and its implementation. 

Crime Prevention 
Design Advisor 

No objection The new building sits within an established 
site which benefits from controlled access 
via a gatehouse and access control 
systems and CCTV are proposed. This 
new building should be protected by a fit 
for purpose intruder alarm, and credits 
towards the BREEAM target of Very Good 
can be achieved by discussion with 
Northants Police under Health and 
Wellbeing section HE06 Security. 

Economic 
Development 

Support Effectively utilises land to in order to 
effectively develop the local economy. 
Requests a S106 contribution towards the 
West Northamptonshire Employment 
Support Service (WNESS) or alternatively 
a condition requiring a local labour 
strategy. 

Developer 
Contributions 

No objection Request informative regarding Superfast 
Broadband. 

Building Control No objection  
Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) 

Comments Insufficient information available to 
comment on the acceptability of the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme 
for the proposed development. 

Ecology No objection Confirm the submitted Ecological 
Assessment, Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan/Construction 
Environmental Management Plan 
(LEMP/CEMP) are appropriate and fit for 
purpose. Recommends a condition 
requiring development to be carried out in 
accordance with the recommendations, 
mitigation and enhancements in the 
LEMP/CEMP and the Ecological 
Assessment. 

Wildlife Trust No response 
received 

 

Northants Fire 
and Rescue 

No response 
received 

 

Page 52



Aylesbury Vale 
District Council 

No response 
received 

 

NCC Spatial, 
Environment and 
Economic 
Planning 

No response 
received 

 

 
7. RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY 
 
7.1. There have been no third party or neighbour responses received at the time of writing 

this report. 
 

8. APPRAISAL  
 

Principle of Development 
 
Policy Context 

8.1. Policy E1 of the LPP1 seeks to protect against the loss of existing employment sites, and 
Policy E5 recognises Silverstone Circuit as a ‘high performance technology motorsport 
cluster’ and an appropriate location to accommodate further employment, tourism, 
education and leisure development, in accordance with the adopted Development Brief. 
Policy R2 of the LPP1 further reinforces this by acknowledging the acceptability of 
proposals which sustain and enhance the rural economy, where they are of an 
appropriate scale for their location and respect the environmental quality and character 
of the rural area, including at part e) the expansion of businesses in their existing 
locations dependent upon the nature of the activities involved, the character of the site 
and its accessibility. 

8.2. Policy EMP2 of the LPP2 permits the intensification of commercial/employment 
generating development within the existing curtilage or through appropriate exceptions 
subject to compliance with other policies in the plan and other material considerations. 
Policy EMP1 requires proposals for major new industrial and commercial development 
to contribute to increasing or maintaining a skilled workforce. 

8.3. Chapter 6 of the NPPF seeks to provide for the building of a strong and competitive 
economy.  

Assessment 

8.4. The current proposal is located within the wider Aston Martin Formula 1 Headquarters 
(HQ) site and needs to be considered in conjunction with other recent approvals within 
the site curtilage.  

8.5. The application seeks permission for the demolition of the existing building and 
replacement with a new staff amenity building which would physically connect to and be 
used in conjunction with the new HQ building and Wind Tunnel, which it would sit 
between.  

8.6. The existing building is located in the centre of Aston Martin’s F1 site; however it is no 
longer fit for purpose and does not reflect the ambition and innovation of the team. The 
proposal is for a purpose built building whose design, scale, layout, height and massing 
have been informed by the previously approved HQ and Wind Tunnel buildings. It will 
contain uses that all relate to the team’s performance, physical and mental health, social 

Page 53



and breakout habits, as well as facilities to support the programme of the adjacent 
buildings. 

8.7. The development of this central building will support Aston Martin’s flagship operations 
at this site and in turn help support a vibrant, successful and developing local and rural 
economy. The building itself is a staff amenity building and as such will not result in the 
employment of additional staff at the site, however the proposals would contribute to 
maintaining a skilled workforce in the district. The specific nature of this application is 
such that it is not considered to be reasonable or necessary to condition a Local Labour 
Strategy or require a S106 contribution towards the West Northamptonshire Employment 
Support Service (WNESS). 

8.8. The Local Plan recognises the contribution that Silverstone Circuit makes to the national 
and local economy, highlighting that it is a lynchpin for high value and high skill 
enterprises in motor sport and automotive development. This is reinforced through the 
Development Brief for the Silverstone Circuit as well as Policy E5 which looks for further 
motorsport-related development at Silverstone Circuit. It is noted that the site falls 
outside of the Development Brief boundary, and therefore outside the scope of the above 
policy; however, the Local Plan acknowledges the importance of this area generally for 
motorsport. This was recognised in granting planning consent for the new HQ building 
and wind tunnel.  

Conclusion 

8.9. Given the importance of F1 to the district and the consequential established need for the 
new Aston Martin HQ site to provide all their operational requirements in one place, it is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable in principle subject to the acceptability of all 
other matters that will be outlined in this report. It will safeguard a key business and jobs 
within the district, which in turn will contribute to supporting a vibrant and successful rural 
economy and the high-performance technology motorsport cluster at Silverstone Circuit. 
The proposal is therefore in accordance with the Development plan specifically policies 
E1 and R2 of the LPP1, Policies EMP1 and EMP2 of the LPP2 and national guidance 
within the NPPF. 

Design, layout and impact on landscape and character of area  

Policy Context  

8.10. Policy S10 of the LPP1 states that (amongst others) ‘development will achieve the 
highest standards of sustainable design incorporating safety and security considerations 
and a strong sense of place’.  

8.11. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires development to (amongst others): use a design-led 
approach to demonstrate compatibility and integration in terms of type, scale, massing, 
siting, form, design, materials and details; and be designed to provide an accessible, 
safe and inclusive environment maximising opportunities to increase personal safety and 
security; and incorporate suitable landscape treatment. 

8.12. Policy NE2 of the LPP2 relates to Special Landscape Areas and highlights that in these 
areas, planning permission will only be granted for development which will not have a 
harmful impact on their character and appearance. Particular attention must be paid to 
design, materials, siting of buildings and the use of land. Also developments of a scale 
would require a full landscape and visual impact assessment (LVIA) and that the ‘LVIA 
should inform the design of the proposal to minimise negative landscape impacts 
including the incorporation of mitigation and compensatory measures’.  

Page 54



8.13. Chapter 12 of the NPPF reflects Government’s requirements for achieving well-designed 
places with significant emphasis on good quality design. Paragraph 126 relates to the 
importance of good design and the fact that ‘Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities’.  

8.14. Chapter 15 of the NPPF concerns the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
environment with Paragraph 174 explaining that decisions should recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside, and seeking the protection and enhancement 
of landscapes/countryside whether designated, valued or otherwise.  

Assessment  

8.15. The application seeks permission for the demolition of the existing building and 
construction of a new staff amenity building. The building will contain uses that all relate 
to the team’s performance, physical and mental health, social and breakout habits, as 
well as facilities to support the programme of the adjacent buildings. 

8.16. The proposed building is 5566m2 over two floors with associated parking and 
landscaping. The design, scale, layout, materials and massing of the proposed building 
respond to the approved development at this Aston Martin HQ site, thereby creating a 
strong relationship and a consistent architectural language. Physical pedestrian bridges 
will link the proposed building to the previously approved HQ and Wind Tunnel, to 
reinforce a sense of connection and allow staff to move freely between the three facilities. 
The north elevation is in line with the approved HQ and Wind Tunnel. An external canopy 
of approximately 8.5m in depth projects off the north elevation providing cover to an 
external social space. 

8.17. The existing building is no longer fit for purpose and does not reflect the ambition and 
innovation of the team. It is not considered to be of significant architectural merit to 
warrant its retention, and its design is no longer in keeping with the character of the new 
HQ campus that Aston Martin is creating on this site. 

8.18. The existing building is of an L shape and has a footprint of approximately 2720m2, with 
a maximum height of around 8.1m. The proposed building is rectangular in form and has 
a footprint of approximately 3780m2, the main section of the building measures 
approximately 10.5m in height with the top of the rooflight at 11.8 metres. The percentage 
increase in mass of the proposal, over the existing building, is approximately 75%.  

8.19. Although the mass and height of the proposed building are larger than that which is to 
be demolished the proportions relate to the new HQ and Wind Tunnel, which the 
proposal will sit between (HQ height approximately 10.5m; office section of wind tunnel 
building approximately 10.5m high, rising to 18.9m around the tunnel itself).  

8.20. The proposed levels have been developed to ensure the creation of an inclusive and 
accessible Aston Martin campus. This will be achieved by providing a consistent ground 
floor Finished Floor Level (FFL) of 149.5m AOD, across all new buildings on the site. 

8.21. In terms of providing a safe and secure development, the new building sits within an 
established site which benefits from controlled access via a gatehouse, and access 
control systems and CCTV are proposed. Northants Police has no objection to what is 
proposed and provides further advice regarding security.  

8.22. The landscape proposals aim to extend the principles approved under the HQ and Wind 
Tunnel applications. The proposal will upgrade and re-configure the existing staff car 

Page 55



park to the south of the building to align in material and layout with the adjacent 
developments, creating consistency across the Masterplan site. 

8.23. To the north of the building a covered terrace will be accessed directly from the building 
via a flush threshold to ensure the space can be enjoyed by all. From here the landscape 
will transition to sloped parkland falling towards the exercise route surrounding the 
balancing ponds, which sits outside of this application and within part of the HQ approval.  

8.24. The Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIA) identified that out of the 7 selected 
viewpoints, there are only two impacts (Viewpoints 5 and 6 on the bridleway adjacent to 
the site) which have Significant visual effects at Year 1. While the visual effect of the 
proposed staff amenity building is deemed Significant from Viewpoints 5 and 6, the fact 
it is replacing an existing building has reduced the magnitude of change to a Moderate 
Effect. Another factor which has reduced the visual impact of the proposed building is 
the screening provided by the consented HQ and Wind Tunnel directly adjacent. The HQ 
is significantly larger and Wind Tunnel significantly higher than proposed building, and 
as such it is well-screened and therefore less impactful. All other viewpoints will have a 
Not Significant impact due to distance from the site or surrounding woodland which acts 
as a buffer. Therefore, considering all these factors, the magnitude of change for the site 
is predominantly negligible. In terms of the landscape character effects, the magnitude 
of change in this area is considered to be Slight adverse and Not Significant on 
completion of the development. 

8.25. Aston Martin’s vision for the site is to create a multi-functional landscape which supports 
healthy working lifestyles while responding and enhancing the broad character of the 
wider landscape. The landscape strategy for the whole site has been carefully 
considered to mitigate any potential landscape and visual impacts identified during the 
design development process and this is further secured by conditions on the approvals 
for the HQ and Wind Tunnel which wrap around this site. 

Conclusion 

8.26. The design, scale, layout, materials and massing of the proposed building respond to 
the previously approved development at Aston Martin, thereby creating a strong 
relationship and a consistent architectural language across the site in compliance with 
Policies S10 of the LPP1, SS2 of the LPP2, the Council’s Design Guide, and the NPPF.  

8.27. Turning to the landscape and visual impact, the proposed building will alter the landscape 
and character of the area to a predominantly negligible extent with visual impact being 
largely low. The landscape strategy, as part of this site and the previously approved HQ 
and Wind Tunnel developments, aims to further mitigate the effects of the proposed 
building and enhance the visual amenity. It is therefore considered to be in accordance 
with Policies S10 of the LPP1,SS2 and NE2 of LPP2, and the NPPF. 

Environmental Impact, Noise/Odour, Air Quality and Lighting  

Policy Context 

8.28. Policy S10 of the LPP1 sets out a number of sustainable development principles and 
that development will (amongst others) minimise pollution from noise, air and run off. 
Policy BN9 deals with Planning for Pollution Control states that ‘Development that is 
likely to cause pollution, either individually or cumulatively, will only be permitted if 
measures can be implemented to minimise pollution to a level which provides a high 
standard of protection for health and environmental quality’. 

Page 56



8.29. Policy S11 of the LPP1 states that proposals should be sensitively located and designed 
to minimise potential adverse impacts on people, the natural environment, biodiversity, 
historic assets and should mitigate pollution. All new non-residential developments over 
500sqm gross internal floorspace are required to achieve a minimum rating of at least 
BREEAM Very Good standard (or equivalent) or any future national equivalent zero 
carbon standard from 2019. 

8.30. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires development to (e) incorporate sensitive lighting 
schemes that respects the surrounding area and reduce harmful impacts on wildlife and 
neighbours; (f) not unacceptably harm the amenity of occupiers and users of 
neighbouring properties and the area through noise, odour, vibration, overshadowing or 
result in loss of privacy, sunlight daylight or outlook, unless adequate mitigation 
measures are proposed and secured; and (g) have appropriate regard to its effect on air 
quality and the effects of air quality on its future occupiers. 

8.31. Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that ‘planning policies and decisions should also 
ensure that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely 
effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the 
natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to 
impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and 
reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new 
development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and 
the quality of life; b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively 
undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this 
reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, 
intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.’ Paragraph 186 states that 
‘opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified’. 

Assessment  

8.32. The application seeks permission for a staff amenity building which will include event 
space, restaurant, and gym areas. 

8.33. Noise/Odour - Although the building does not appear to have any particularly noisy 
equipment within it the plant room, kitchen extractor and heat pump are all sources of 
noise that need to be considered. A noise report has been submitted with the application; 
however this does not detail the specifics of the mechanical plant to be used at the site. 
It is therefore considered appropriate in this instance to request a further noise impact 
assessment and mitigation scheme (by condition) in order to demonstrate and ensure 
that the rating level of noise emission from the externally fixed building service plant, 
equipment, or machinery will be no greater than minus 10dB below the prevailing 
background noise level; as previously defined in the consents for the HQ and Wind 
Tunnel. A further condition is proposed requiring details of the ventilation system for the 
commercial kitchen, in order to ensure that odour is also adequately controlled. It is with 
the above safeguarding conditions that there have been no objections raised by 
Environmental Health relating to noise or odour. 

8.34. Air Quality - Public Health England’s most recent advice is that there is no safe level of 
particulates and therefore the development should be designed to minimise exposure to 
emissions from traffic. All development should support sustainable travel, air quality 
improvements/traffic reduction as required by the NPPF(2018). 

8.35. An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application which covers the 
whole Aston Martin site, along with further details to encourage modal shift. The nature 
of the building is such that the proposals will not generate additional traffic (this is 
discussed further in paragraphs 8.41 – 8.43). During the construction works, a range of 

Page 57



best practice mitigation measures will be implemented to reduce dust emissions and the 
overall effect will be ‘not significant’. A range of sustainable travel measures have also 
been incorporated in order to facilitate further improvements in air quality within the 
vicinity of the proposed development. Overall, the construction and operational air quality 
effects of the proposed development are judged to be ‘not significant’. The Environmental 
Protection Officer is content with the proposals and these will be secured by condition.  

8.36. Lighting – The lighting scheme for this development has not yet been finalised but will 
follow the strategy set out for the HQ building. The location of the building within the site 
is such that it sits between the HQ and Wind Tunnel and is quite a distance from the 
woodland to the west, which is the main ecologically sensitive receptor. The main change 
will be an increased visibility of lighting in general within the landscape from Litchlake 
Farm and Litchlake Barns. However, when taken in the context of the existing building 
on the site, combined with the background lighting from Silverstone Park and Circuit it is 
considered that the level of light impact on these properties could be designed so as to 
be acceptable and compliant with the relevant local and national residential amenity 
policies. A condition is proposed to require details of external and security lighting prior 
to commencement of those works.  

8.37. Sustainability principles - The proposal incorporates a range of sustainability 
principles, including passive, active and renewable design measures; it also meets 
BREEAM level ‘very good’ and therefore accords with the sustainability policies both 
locally and nationally. 

Conclusion 

8.38. The proposal incorporates a range of sustainability principles and meets BREEAM level 
‘very good’. The nature of the scheme is such that the noise/odour, air quality and lighting 
matters have been considered and, subject to the relevant safeguarding conditions, 
would be acceptable and compliant with the Policies S10 and S11 of the LPP1, Policy 
SS2 of the LPP2 and the NPPF. 

Highway Safety 

Policy Context 

8.39. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires development to have a satisfactory means of access 
and provide adequate parking, servicing and turning facilities including for the disabled. 

8.40. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF explains that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

Assessment 

8.41. The vehicle access point to the site will remain as previously approved by the HQ 
building, being off the Dadford Road at the North-East corner of the site and operating 
on a left-in, left-out arrangement. 

8.42. The Transport Assessment confirms that this planning application will not increase the 
staff numbers or car parking provision compared to the approved Headquarters and 
Wind Tunnel Facility. It is therefore considered appropriate that the Traffic Cap Plan and 
Travel Plan serving the Headquarters and Wind Tunnel Facility site continue to serve the 
proposed staff amenity building and the relevant conditions will be included within this 
permission. For the avoidance of doubt, this will include all commitments and obligations 
including staff surveys, ‘guaranteed lift home’ and monitoring of the electric car/cycle 

Page 58



parking located close to buildings along with not exceeding the approved cap on peak 
hour traffic movements. 

8.43. National Highways have undertaken an independent trip generation exercise and 
consider that the anticipated development trips remain in line with the trip generation 
from the previously approved land use for storage/ warehouse. They acknowledge that 
the relocation of the staff to the staff amenity building will not result in changes to the 
staff numbers and that the total number of staff for the whole site will remain the same 
as previously consented. There is therefore no anticipated increase in the number of 
vehicles on the Strategic Road Network and no objection from National Highways or the 
Local Highway Authority.   

Conclusion 

8.44. A Transport Assessment dated July 2022 has been undertaken which identifies no 
additional traffic generation by the proposed amenity building. On that basis National 
Highways and the Local Highways Authority raise no concerns. Conditions relating to 
the development traffic cap and travel plan on the HQ and Wind Tunnel applications will 
be replicated on this application. It is therefore considered that the proposal is compliant 
with Policy SS2 of the LPP2, and the NPPF. 

Residential amenity 

Policy context 

8.45. Policy S10 of the LPP1 sets out a number of sustainable development principles and 
that development will (amongst others) minimise pollution from noise, air and run off. 
Policy BN9 deals with Planning for Pollution Control.  

8.46. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires development: (f) to incorporate sensitive lighting 
schemes that respects the surrounding area and reduce harmful impacts on wildlife and 
neighbours; (g) result in adequate standards of living for future occupiers and will not 
unacceptably harm the amenity of occupiers and users of neighbouring properties and 
the area through noise, vibration, overshadowing or result in loss of privacy or loss of 
sunlight and daylight. 

Assessment 

8.47. The nearest residential properties are those at Litchlake Barn and Litchlake Farm. 
Concern regarding the proximity of the development and these properties has been 
previously considered at the time of the HQ and Wind Tunnel applications.  

8.48. In this instance the application involves the removal of an existing building on the site 
and replacement with a larger more modern building. The proposed building is 
approximately 2.4m taller than the existing, with a rooflight that projects a further 1.3m 
above the main roof. It will sit approximately 12m closer to the dwelling of Litchlake Barn 
than the existing building, and includes a further 8.5m deep external canopy off its north 
elevation. Although the mass and height of the proposed building are larger than that 
which is to be demolished the proportions relate to the new HQ and Wind Tunnel, which 
the proposal will sit between and link to via first floor walkways.  

8.49. It is acknowledged that the size and location of the proposed amenity building are such 
that they will have an effect on the amenities of the neighbouring properties. The rear 
wall of the proposed amenity building is located approximately 97m from the rear wall of 
Litchlake Barns and 85m from their residential curtilage. There are two small square 
windows in the first floor of Litchlake Barns that face onto and have views across the 

Page 59



application site. However the views from the ground floor windows in the dwelling are 
limited due to the drop in land levels.  

8.50. The red line boundary of the current application does not extend up to the edge of Aston 
Martins wider site. The land between the application site and the rear boundary of 
Litchlake Barns is being controlled through conditions on the previous HQ consent. This 
area has been designated to provide balancing ponds and screening landscaping to 
protect the amenities of the occupiers at Litchlake Barns from the HQ development. The 
landscaping to be provided as part of the extant application will also serve to protect the 
amenities of the occupiers at Litchlake Barns from any significant overlooking, 
overbearing effects, or light pollution from the proposed amenity building. 

8.51. The nature of the amenity building with its restaurant and gym does have the potential 
to create noise and odour, however this can be suitably controlled through the use of 
safeguarding conditions as discussed in the previous section of this report.  

8.52. There have been no objections received from neighbouring properties at the time of 
writing this report and no objections from Environmental Protection.  

Conclusion 

8.53. It was acknowledged during the consideration of the previous applications at the site that 
there would be a change to the amenities of the occupiers of Litchlake Farm and 
Litchlake Barn from the proposed HQ and Wind Tunnel developments, but it was 
considered that the measure of mitigation to be provided would limit the impact in terms 
of visual amenity, noise, and light. This position is reflected in the current proposal. It is 
therefore with the above safeguarding conditions and landscape mitigation that the 
proposal is not considered to cause significant harm to the amenity of neighbouring 
residents in accordance with Policies S10 and BN9 of the LPP1 and Policy SS2 of the 
LPP2.  

Drainage 

Policy Context 

8.54. Policy BN7 of the LPP1 and Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires development to provide 
satisfactory surface water drainage and incorporate mitigation identified through an 
assessment of flood risk.  

8.55. Paragraph 167 of the NPPF states that in determining planning applications, Local 
Planning Authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 
Applications of over 1Ha in Flood Zone 1 (i.e. major development) should be 
accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment. 

Assessment 

8.56. A Flood Risk Assessment was submitted with the application and a further Surface and 
Foul Water Drainage Strategy (dated February 2023) has been submitted in response to 
the Lead Local Flood Authority’s (LLFA) request for further information. This document 
advises that surface water runoff generated from the development is proposed to 
discharge into the attenuation pond located to the northwest of the site, which has been 
designed to accommodate storm volumes from both the Wind Tunnel and the  proposed 
staff amenity building. A flow control device will be installed at the outfall of the 
attenuation pond to control the flow before it enters the drainage ditch in the eastern 
boundary of the site. 

Page 60



8.57. The LLFA has not raised an objection to the proposals, but has sought further information 
from the applicant. The Surface Water and Foul Water drainage strategy was submitted 
in response to this request and is currently with the LLFA for assessment and comment. 
A further update will be provided on this matter once their response is received.  

8.58. Foul drainage from the staff amenity building will be collected via a traditional below 
ground drainage network discharging to a foul packaged pumping chamber which will lift 
the flow to enable connection into the B1 drainage network, eventually draining to the 
Foul Treatment Plant as approved as part of the HQ works. Anglian Water has raised no 
objection subject to the addition of a condition requiring a detailed scheme for on-site 
foul water drainage works, including connection point and discharge rate. 

Conclusion 

8.59. No objections have been received in relation to the proposed Surface Water and Foul 
Water proposals at the site but the Local Planning Authority is awaiting feedback on the 
applicant’s most recent drainage strategy. Adequate surface and foul water strategies 
have been agreed on both of Aston Martin’s HQ and Wind Tunnel approvals, and there 
is no reason to believe that this will not be achievable for the current application. A further 
update will be provided on this matter. 

Archaeology 

Policy context 

8.60. Policy HE2 of the LPP2 explains that when considering proposals that may affect sites 
that potentially have remains of archaeological importance, they will not be assessed 
until an appropriate desk-based assessment and where necessary a field assessment 
has been undertaken. Where remains are found there is a presumption that these should 
be preserved in situ. 

Assessment 

8.61. The site is within the Archaeological Assets Sites of Silverstone Airfield (WWII), and 
Syresham/Brackley Hatch.  

8.62. The previous HQ and Wind Tunnel applications included conditions requiring the 
development be implemented and carried out in accordance with an approved Written 
Scheme of Archaeological investigation (WSI). The Archaeological Advisor has 
confirmed that the archaeological requirements in connection with previous applications 
have been met and they have no comments to make in respect of this proposal. 

Conclusion 

8.63. The development of the site will not have a harmful impact on any archaeological 
remains and is in accordance with Policy HE2 of the LPP2 and the NPPF. 

Ecology Impact 

Legislative context 

8.64. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 provide for the designation 
and protection of 'European sites' and  'European protected species' (EPS). Under the 
Regulations, competent authorities such as the Council  have a general duty to have 
regard to the EC Habitats Directive and Wild Birds Directive.  

Page 61



8.65. In terms of EPS, the Regulations make it an offence (subject to exceptions) to 
deliberately capture, kill, disturb, or trade in the animals listed in the Regulations, or pick, 
collect, cut, uproot, destroy, or trade in the plants listed therein. However, these actions 
can be made lawful through the granting of licenses by the appropriate authorities by 
meeting the requirements of 3 strict legal derogation tests: 

a. Is the development needed to preserve public health or public safety or other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment? 

b. That there is no satisfactory alternative. 

c. That the action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the 
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their 
natural range. 

Policy Context 

8.66. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that Planning policies and decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst others): a) protecting and 
enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils; and d) 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 175 states that 
planning authorities should refuse planning permission if significant harm to biodiversity 
cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for and 
should support development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
biodiversity. Opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around 
developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable net 
gains for biodiversity. 

8.67. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should also ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on the natural environment, as well as the potential 
sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development. 
In doing so they should (amongst others) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial 
light on nature conservation.  

8.68. National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that Local Planning Authorities should 
only require ecological surveys where clearly justified, for example if there is a 
reasonable likelihood of a protected species being present and affected by development. 
Assessments should be proportionate to the nature and scale of development proposed 
and the likely impact on biodiversity. 

8.69. Policy NE3 of the LPP2 seeks to conserve and wherever possible enhance green 
infrastructure . Policy NE4 seeks to protect and integrate existing trees and hedgerows 
wherever possible and requires new planting schemes to use native or similar species 
and varieties to maximise benefits to the local landscape and wildlife. Policy NE5 
requires that proposals aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity in 
order to provide measurable net gains. Development proposals will not be permitted 
where they would result in significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity, including 
protected species and sites of international, national and local significance, ancient 
woodland, and species and habitats of principal importance identified in the United 
Kingdom Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework. 

8.70. Policy BN2 of the LPP1 states that development that will maintain and enhance existing 
designations and assets or deliver a net gain in biodiversity will be supported. 

Page 62



Development that has the potential to harm sites of ecological importance will be subject 
to an ecological assessment and required to demonstrate: 1) the methods used to 
conserve biodiversity in its design and construction and operation 2) how habitat 
conservation, enhancement and creation can be achieved through linking habitats 3) 
how designated sites, protected species and priority habitats will be safeguarded. In 
cases where it can be shown that there is no reasonable alternative to development that 
is likely to prejudice the integrity of an existing wildlife site or protected habitat 
appropriate mitigation measures including compensation will be expected in proportion 
to the asset that will be lost. Where mitigation or compensation cannot be agreed with 
the relevant authority development will not be permitted.  

Assessment 

8.71. Natural England’s Standing Advice states that an LPA only needs to ask an applicant to 
carry out a survey if it’s likely that protected species are present on or near the proposed 
site.  

8.72. The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment dated July 2019 (Ref: 
8181.EcoAss.vf1) by Ecology Solutions, and a Landscape and Ecology Management 
Plan /Construction Environmental Management Plan (LEMP/CEMP) dated September 
2020 by Ecology Solutions. Further Ecology Statement (8181) dated October 2021 by 
Ecology Solutions, submitted with a previous application WNS/2021/1594/MAF, confirms 
that the habitats and conditions present on site have changed little since the original 
surveys in 2019, therefore no additional or update surveys are required at this time as 
the state of protected species and habitats on site are unlikely to have changed.  

8.73. Appropriate mitigation measures are presented within the submitted LEMP/CEMP for 
Reptiles, Badgers, Bats, Great Crested Newts and Nesting Birds. The habitat 
enhancements detailed in the LEMP/CEMP will ensure that a net gain in biodiversity is 
achieved in line with NPPF.  

Conclusion 

8.74. Officers are satisfied, on the basis of the advice from the Council’s Ecologist and the 
absence of any objection from Natural England, and subject to conditions, that the 
welfare of any EPS found to be present at the site and surrounding land will continue 
and be safeguarded notwithstanding the proposed development and that the Council’s 
statutory obligations in relation to protected species and habitats under the Conservation 
of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, have been met and discharged. 

Minerals Safeguarding Area 
 
Policy context 
 

8.75. Policy 28 of the MWLP states that ‘Development of a significant nature within Minerals 
Safeguarding Areas will have to demonstrate that the sterilisation of proven mineral 
resources of economic importance will not occur as a result of the development, and that 
the development would not pose a serious hindrance to future extraction in the vicinity. 
If this cannot be demonstrated, prior extraction will be sought where practicable. 
Development of a non-mineral related nature within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas 
which is incompatible with the safeguarding of minerals should not proceed unless: 

• it can be clearly demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning Authority 
that the mineral concerned is no longer of any value, or potential Value, or that 
substantial (economically viable) deposits of a similar quality exist elsewhere in the 
county, or the mineral can be extracted, where practicable, prior to the 
development taking place, or 

Page 63



• the incompatible development is of a temporary nature and can be completed with 
the site restored to a condition that does not inhibit extraction within the timescale 
that the mineral is likely to be needed, or 

• the development is of a minor nature which would not inhibit extraction of the 
mineral resource, or 

• there is an overriding need for the development’. 
 
Assessment 
 

8.76. It has been established through the previous applications on this site that there has been 
no interest in the site for mineral extraction and its value for such purposes is considered 
very limited. In conjunction with this the site needs to be considered in context of what is 
in situ and the degree of permanency. The site has already been developed with the 
existing factory and associated parking already in place. Recent planning applications 
for the new HQ building and Wind Tunnel have been approved, with construction on the 
HQ well underway. The potential for the site to be utilised for mineral extraction is not 
therefore possible.  
 
Conclusion 
 

8.77. The proposed building is on the site of an existing building which in turn forms part of a 
collection of buildings previously approved. There is a need for the development 
associated with the existing business on the site, the principle of the development is 
acceptable and compliant with the Development Plan, and as such Policy 28 of the 
MWLP is also complied with. 

 
9. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

 
9.1. Given the importance of F1 to the district and the consequential established need for the 

new Aston Martin HQ site to provide all their operational requirements in one place, it is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable in principle. It will safeguard a key business 
and jobs within the district, which in turn will contribute to supporting a vibrant and 
successful rural economy and the high-performance technology motorsport cluster at 
Silverstone Circuit.  

9.2. The design, scale, layout, materials and massing of the proposed building respond to 
the previously approved development at Aston Martin, thereby creating a strong 
relationship and a consistent architectural language across the site.  

9.3. Turning to the landscape and visual impact, the proposed building will alter the landscape 
and character of the area to a predominantly negligible extent with visual impact being 
largely low. The landscape strategy, as part of this site and the previously approved HQ 
and Wind Tunnel developments, aims to further mitigate the effects of the proposed 
building and enhance the visual amenity. 

9.4. The proposal incorporates a range of sustainability principles and meets BREEAM level 
‘very good’. The nature of the scheme is such that the noise/odour, air quality and lighting 
matters have been considered and, subject to the relevant safeguarding conditions, 
would be acceptable. 

9.5. A Transport Assessment has been undertaken which identifies no additional traffic 
generation by the proposed amenity building and on that basis National Highways and 
the Local Highways Authority raise no concerns. Conditions relating to the development 
traffic cap and travel plan on the HQ and Wind Tunnel applications will be replicated on 
this application.  

Page 64



 
9.6. It was acknowledged during the consideration of the previous applications at the site that 

there would be a change to the amenities of the occupiers of Litchlake Farm and 
Litchlake Barn from the proposed HQ and Wind Tunnel developments, but it was 
considered that the measure of mitigation to be provided would limit the impact in terms 
of visual amenity, noise, and light. This position is reflected in the current proposal. It is 
therefore with the above safeguarding conditions and landscape mitigation that the 
proposal is not considered to cause significant harm to the amenity of neighbouring 
residents.  

 
9.7. Adequate surface and foul water strategies have been agreed on both of Aston Martin’s 

HQ and Wind Tunnel approvals, and there is no reason to believe that this will not be 
achievable for the current application. 

 
9.8. The welfare of any EPS found to be present at the site and surrounding land will continue 

and be safeguarded notwithstanding the proposed development. The development of 
the site will not have a harmful impact on any archaeological remains. 

 
9.9. The proposal is therefore in accordance with the development plan specifically policies 

S10, S11, E1, BN2, BN9, and R2 of the LPP1; Policies SS2, EMP1, EMP2,  NE2, NE5,  
HE2 of the LPP2; Policy 28 of the MWLP; the Council’s Design Guide; and national 
guidance within the NPPF.  

 
10. RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS 
 

RECOMMENDATION – DELEGATE TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 

1. ADEQUATE SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE INFORMATION BEING 
SUBMITTED TO ADDRESS THE COMMENTS OF THE LEAD LOCAL FLOOD 
AUTHORITY (WITH DELEGATED AUTHORITY TO THE ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT TO ADD ANY 
RECOMMENDED DRAINAGE CONDITIONS) AND 

2. SUBJECT TO THE S106 AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS SET OUT BELOW 
(AND ANY AMENDMENTS TO THOSE CONDITIONS AS DEEMED 
NECESSARY) 

CONDITIONS 
 
 TIME LIMITS AND GENERAL IMPLEMENTATION CONDITIONS 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason : To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 Approved Plans and Documents 
 
2. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with 

the approved plans and details unless a non-material or minor material amendment is 
approved by the Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).  The 
approved plans and details are:  

Page 65



• Location Plan - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-ST-PL-A.0001 Rev A 
• Proposed Site Plan - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-ST-PL-A.0003 Rev B 
• Proposed Ground Floor Plan - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-00-PL-A.0101 Rev B 
• Proposed First Floor Plan - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-01-PL-A.0102 Rev B 
• Proposed Roof Plan - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-RF-PL-A.0103 Rev B 
• Proposed Elevations (1 of 2) - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-XX-EL-A.0105 Rev 

B 
• Proposed Elevations (2 of 2) - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-XX-EL-A.0106 Rev 

B 
• Proposed Sections - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-XX-SE-A.0110 Rev B 
• Pedestrian Bridge Link A - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-01-EL-A.0107 Rev B 
• Pedestrian Bridge Link B - Drawing No. 5017844-RDG-XX-01-EL-A.0108 Rev B 
• Transport Assessment (2273/TA/01) by Highgate Transportation dated July 2022 
• BREEAM Pre Assessment Report by Ridge dated 4 July 2022  
• Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal by MacFarlane+Assocs dated July 2022 
• Landscape and Ecology Management Plan / Construction Environmental 

Management Plan 8181.LEMP/CEMP.vf2 by Ecology Solutions dated September 
2020 

• Air Quality Assessment J3694A/1/F1 by Air Quality Consultants dated July 2019 
• Archaeological Desk Based Assessment 1484/01 by Lanpro Services Ltd. dated 

January 2019 
• Ecological Assessment 8181.EcoAss.vf1 by Ecology Solutions dated July 2019 
• Flood Risk Assessment Report dated 10 July 2019 
• Planning Statement by Ridge dated 08.07.2022 
• Design and Access Statement by Ridge dated 08.07.2022 
• Response to Environmental Protection - Encouraging Model Shift email dated 24 

February 2023 
  
 Reason : To clarify the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 Ecology 
 
3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations, mitigation and enhancements in the Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan/Construction Environmental Management Plan dated September 
2020 by Ecology Solutions and section 5 of the Ecological Assessment by Ecology 
Solutions dated July 2019, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 Reason : To protect habitats and/or species of importance to nature conservation from 

significant harm in accordance with the Government's aim to achieve sustainable 
development as set out in Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 Air Quality 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations set out in Section 7 of the Air Quality Assessment by Air Quality 
Consultants dated 16 July 2019 and measures for Encouraging Model Shift contained 
within the email dated 24 February 2023, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason : In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of 

development, in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan 
Part 2 and Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 66



 
 
 CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL 

OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BEFORE ANY DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES  
  
 Finished Floor Levels 
 
5. No development shall take place until details of all finished floor levels in relation to 

existing and proposed site levels and to the adjacent buildings have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development hereby 
permitted shall be constructed in accordance with the approved levels. 

  
 Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with advice 

within Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required 
prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of 
the scheme. 

 
 Land Contamination 
 
6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until:  
  

a) a desk study and site walk over to identify all potential contaminative uses on site, 
and to inform the conceptual site model has been carried out by a competent person 
and in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's ‘Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’, and  

b) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
  
 No development shall take place until the Local Planning Authority has given its written 

approval that it is satisfied that no potential risk from contamination has been identified. 
   
 Reason:  To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and 

adequately addressed to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to 
ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use to comply with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint 
Core Strategy, and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This 
information is required prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental 
to the acceptability of the scheme. 

 
7. If a potential risk from contamination is identified as a result of the work carried out under 

condition 6 above, then no part of the development hereby permitted shall take place 
until: 

   
a) a comprehensive intrusive investigation in order to characterise the type, nature and 

extent of contamination present has been carried out; 
b) the risks to receptors and to inform the remediation strategy proposals has been 

documented as a report undertaken by a competent person and in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's ‘Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and   

c) both (a) and (b) above has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 No development shall take place unless the Local Planning Authority has given its written 

approval that it is satisfied that the risk from contamination has been adequately 
characterised as required by this condition. 

   

Page 67



 Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is adequately addressed 
to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the site is 
suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, and Section 
15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to 
commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the 
scheme. 

 
8. If contamination is found by undertaking the work carried out under condition 7, then no 

development hereby permitted shall take place until  
a) a scheme of remediation and/or monitoring to ensure the site is suitable for its 

proposed use has been prepared by a competent person and in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's ‘Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and  

b) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
  
 No development shall take place until the Local Planning Authority has given its written 

approval of the scheme of remediation and/or monitoring required by this condition. 
   
 Reason:  To ensure that any ground and water contamination is adequately addressed 

to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the site is 
suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, and Section 
15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior to 
commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the 
scheme. 

 
 Construction Method Statement 
 
9. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition until a Construction 

Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The statement shall provide for at a minimum: 
a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) The routeing of HGVs to and from the site; 
c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
e) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
f) Wheel washing facilities including type of operation (automated, water recycling etc) 

and road sweeping; 
g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 
h) A scheme for recycling/ disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works;  
i) Delivery, demolition and construction working hours;  
j) Measures to control overspill of light from security lighting 
k) A nominated Developer/Resident Liaison Representative with an address and 

contact telephone number to be circulated to those residents consulted on the 
application by the developer’s representatives. This person will act as first point of 
contact for residents who have any problems or questions related to the ongoing 
development. 

 
 The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 

construction period for the development.  
  

Page 68



 Reason : To ensure the environment is protected during construction in accordance with 
Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 and Government guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required 
prior to commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the acceptability of 
the scheme. 

 
 CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL 

OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION 
WORKS TAKE PLACE 

 
 Foul Drainage 
 
10. Prior to the construction above damp proof course, a scheme for on-site foul water 

drainage works, including connection point and discharge rate, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation the foul water 
drainage works must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
scheme.  

  
 Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding and to 

accord with Sections 14 and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 Fire Safety 
 
11. No development shall take place above ground level until (a) a fire engineered report to 

show the fire strategy and means of escape and (b) a scheme and timetable detailing 
the provision of fire hydrants, a building fire protection system and their associated 
infrastructure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The fire hydrants, building fire protection system and associated infrastructure 
shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and timetable. 

  
 Reason : To ensure adequate fire safety measures are installed within the building and 

water infrastructure provision is made on site for the local fire service to tackle any 
property fire in accordance with Government Guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 Materials 
 
12. Samples of the cladding and louvred screening to be used in the construction of the walls 

of the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of those works. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the samples so approved. 

  
 Reason : To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the locality 

and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in accordance 
with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 and Government 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13. Samples of the material to be used in the covering of the roof of the building shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of those works.  The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the samples so approved. 

  
 Reason : To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the locality 

and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in accordance 

Page 69



with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 and Government 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 Architectural Detailing  
 
14. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, further details of the 

architectural detailing of the exterior of the building shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the construction of the building above 
slab level.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 

SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2. 
 
 Landscaping 
 
15. A scheme for landscaping the site shall be provided to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority which shall include:- 
  
 (a) details of the proposed tree and shrub planting including their species, number, sizes 

and positions, together with grass seeded/turfed areas and written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment 
i.e. depth of topsoil, mulch etc), 

  
 (b) details of the existing trees and hedgerows to be retained as well as those to be 

felled, including existing and proposed soil levels at the base of each tree/hedgerow and 
the minimum distance between the base of the tree and the nearest edge of any 
excavation, 

  
 (c)  details of the hard landscaping including hard surface areas, pavements, pedestrian 

areas and steps. 
  
 Such details shall be provided prior to the development progressing above slab level or 

such alternative time frame as agreed in writing by the developer and the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented by the end of the first planting 
season following occupation of the development. 

  
 Reason : To ensure that a satisfactory landscape scheme is provided in the interest of 

well planned development and visual amenity and to accord with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 

carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the 
building or on the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, and shall be 
maintained for the lifetime of the development. Any trees and/or shrubs which within a 
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent for 
any variation. 

  
 Reason : To ensure that the agreed landscaping scheme is maintained over a 

reasonable period that will permit its establishment in the interests of visual amenity and 

Page 70



to accord with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 and 
Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 
Development Traffic Cap 
 

17.  Prior to first use or occupation of the development hereby permitted a methodology for 
assessing the peak hour trips from the site and development traffic cap, including 
measures to reduce development trips in the event of a breach in the development traffic 
cap, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that no more development trips are attracted by the development 
hereby permitted than as defined by the methodology set out in the approved Transport 
Assessment, including measures to reduce development trips in the event of a breach 
in the development traffic cap and to ensure that the A43 continues to serve its purpose 
as part of a national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10(2) 
of the Highways Act 1980 in the interests of road safety. 
 
Travel Plan 
 

18.  A Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the first use or occupation of the development hereby permitted. The 
Travel Plan shall comprise: 

 
a) The appointment of a Travel Plan Co-ordinator to manage the Travel Plan. 
b) The provision of showers, changing facilities and lockers for the benefit of 

commuters travelling by foot, cycle, and motorbike. 
c) The provision of secure and covered cycle parking close to the changing facilities. 

The cycle parking will also include a fixed pump/workstand to allow minor repairs to 
be undertaken where necessary, e.g. puncture repair and gear indexing. 

d) The provision of a ‘guaranteed ride home’ facility for car sharing members of staff in 
the event of an emergency. 

e) Details of a car sharing scheme and database to be implemented and maintained to 
help staff form car sharing arrangements. 

f) Monitoring of the cycle and electric vehicle parking spaces to ensure supply is 
sufficient and keeps up with future trends. 

 
The approved Travel Plan shall thereafter be implemented and operated in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 
Reason : In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development, in accordance with Government advice in the NPPF. 

 
 Cycle parking 
 
19. Prior to the first use or occupation of the development hereby permitted, covered cycle 

parking facilities shall be provided on the site in accordance with details to be first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The covered cycle 
parking facilities so provided shall thereafter be permanently retained and maintained for 
the parking of cycles in connection with the development. 

  
 Reason :  In the interests of promoting sustainable transport modes in accordance with 

Government advice in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 71



 Electric Vehicle Charging Provision 
 
20. Prior to the commencement of the construction of the approved car parking areas, a 

scheme for 10% of the car parking spaces to be provided with DC fast charging 
equipment or equivalent charging equipment shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall thereafter be implemented 
before the first use of those parking areas and the charging points shall thereafter be 

 maintained in working order. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that sufficient charging points are provided and to comply with Policy 

S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Policy INF4 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2, and to maximise opportunities for sustainable 
transport modes in accordance with paragraph 110(e) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 Crime Prevention Measures 
 
21. Prior to first use of the building hereby permitted, full details of the proposed security and 

crime prevention measures for the site (including measures such as CCTV, lighting, 
intruder alarms, adequate access control and perimeter treatments) shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of crime prevention in accordance with Policy S10 of the Joint 

Core Strategy for West Northamptonshire and Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan Part 2. 

 
 Noise  
 
22. Prior to the installation of any new externally fixed building service plant, equipment or 

machinery at the site, a noise impact assessment and noise mitigation scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Authority. The noise assessment shall 
be undertaken in accordance with the procedures detailed in BS 4142:2014 Method for 
Rating and Assessing Industrial and Commercial Sound, in order to demonstrate and 
ensure, that the rating level of noise emission from the externally fixed building service 
plant, equipment or machinery will be no greater than minus 10dB below the prevailing 
background noise level, determined to be 41 dB LAf90, 15 min between 07:00 to 23:00, 
and 35 dB LAf90, 15 min between 23:00 hours to 07:00 hours, as assessed at 1 metre 
from the façade of the nearest noise sensitive premises at Litchlake Farm and Litchlake 
Barns. The approved externally fixed building service plant, equipment or machinery 
shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and thereafter shall be 
operated and maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

  
 Reason : To ensure the creation of a satisfactory environment free from intrusive levels 

of noise from the proposed development and to meet the aims of the Government 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework, Noise Policy 
Statement for England, The Governments Planning Practice Guidance, and Policy SS2 
of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2. 

 
 Ventilation and Odour 
 
23. A scheme for the ventilation and extraction of cooking fumes shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 
use of the premises as a staff restaurant/cafe. The approved system shall be installed 

Page 72



and operated in accordance with the approved scheme at all times the building is in use 
for the purposes hereby permitted. 

  
 Reason : To protect the amenities of nearby residents and the character of the area and 

to comply with  Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2. 
 
 Land Contamination 
 
24. If remedial works have been identified in condition 7, the development shall not be 

occupied until the remedial works have been carried out in accordance with the scheme 
approved under condition 8. A verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of 
the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is adequately addressed 

to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the site is 
suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, and Section 
15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
25. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 

the site, no further development shall be carried out until full details of a remediation 
strategy detailing how the unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 
remediation strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and adequately 

addressed to ensure the safety of the development, the environment and to ensure the 
site is suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan, Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy, and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 Lighting 
 
26. Details of the external lighting and security lighting including the design, position, 

orientation and any screening of the lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of those works. The lighting shall 
be installed, operated and maintained for the lifetime of the development, in accordance 
with the approved scheme at all times thereafter. 

  
 Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area and protect the amenities 

of nearby residents in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local 
Plan Part 2 and Government advice in The National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 CONDITIONS TO BE COMPLIED WITH AT ALL TIMES  
 
 BREEAM 
 
27. The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to at least a BREEAM Very 

Good standard.   
  
 Reason : To ensure energy and resource efficiency practices are incorporated into the 

development in accordance with the Government's aim to achieve sustainable 
development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 73



 Outside Storage 
 
28. No goods, materials, plant or machinery shall be stored, repaired, operated or displayed 

outside the building unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 

SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2. 
 
 Forklift Vehicles 
 
29. All forklift vehicles operated within the service yard shall be fitted only with 

directional/broadband-white noise type reversing alarms unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason : To ensure the creation of a satisfactory environment free from intrusive levels 

of noise in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 
2. 

 
 INFORMATIVES:- 
 
1. Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry 

Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water Industry 
Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087.  

  
 Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land 

identified for the proposed development. It appears that development proposals will 
affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian 
Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over 
existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water. 

  
 Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the statutory 

easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. 
Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087.  

  
 The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been 

approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers 
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team on 0345 
606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed 
and constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as 
supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements. 

 
2. All planting within the ecological enhancement/non-formal landscaped areas should be 

of UK native local provenance species of a mix that is reflective of that found locally in 
similar habitats. 

 
3. The West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (December 2014) 

policy C1, Changing Behaviour and Achieving Modal Shift, states that new development 
should be accessed by fibre to the premise (FTTP) technology. This supports the 
government’s Gigabit programme and local targets to see 80% full fibre and 90% gigabit 
coverage by the end of 2028. Developers should approach telecoms providers at the 
earliest opportunity to agree gigabit-ready infrastructure and connectivity plans. The 
network capability delivered by full fibre technology supports the fastest broadband 
speeds available, is considered future proof, and will bring a multitude of opportunities, 
savings and benefits. It may also add value to the development and is a major selling 

Page 74



point to attract potential homebuyers and occupiers, with many people now regarding 
fast broadband as one of the most important considerations. 

 
 Efficiencies can be secured if ducting works and other network infrastructure is planned 

early and carried out in co-operation with the installations of standard utility works. Any 
works carried out should be compliant with the Manual of Contract Documents for 
Highways Works - specifically Volume 1 Specification Series 500 Drainage and Ducts, 
and Volume 3 Highway Construction Details Section 1 - I Series Underground Cable 
Ducts. These documents can be found at: 
https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/mchw/index.htm     Streetworks 
UK Guidelines on the Positioning and Colour Coding of Underground Utilities Apparatus 
can be found here: National Joint Utilities Group (http://streetworks.org.uk/). Proposals 
should also be compliant with Part R, Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010 (soon 
to be amended to strengthen requirements for gigabit connectivity to new dwellings) and 
the Approved Document R. 

 
 Some telecoms network providers have dedicated online portals providing advice for 

developers, including: 
 Openreach https://www.ournetwork.openreach.co.uk/property-development.aspx  
 Virgin media https://www.virginmedia.com/broadband/network-expansion  
 OFNL (GTC) https://www.ofnl.co.uk/house-builders/  
 CityFibre http://cityfibre.com/property-developers  
 Details of other fibre network providers operating locally, including Gigaclear Networks 

and Glide, can be found here http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-are-we-
delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx  

 For help and advice on broadband connectivity in West Northamptonshire email the 
Superfast Northamptonshire Team at bigidea.ncc@northnorthants.gov.uk  
(https://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/Pages/home.aspx) 

  
4. Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009 "Code of Practice 

for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites" and the Control of Pollution Act 1974. 
 
5. Foul drainage should be connected to the main sewer. Where this is not possible, under 

the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 any discharge of sewage or trade 
effluent made to either surface water or groundwater will need to be registered as an 
exempt discharge activity or hold a permit issued by the Environment Agency, addition 
to planning permission. This applies to any discharge to inland freshwaters, coastal 
waters or relevant territorial waters.  

 
 Please note that the granting of planning permission does not guarantee the granting of 

an Environmental Permit. Upon receipt of a correctly filled in application form we will 
carry out an assessment. It can take up to 4 months before we are in a position to decide 
whether to grant a permit or not. 

 
 Domestic effluent discharged from a treatment plant/septic tank at 2 cubic metres or less 

to ground or 5 cubic metres or less to surface water in any 24 hour period must comply 
with General Binding Rules provided that no public foul sewer is available to serve the 
development and that the site is not within a Groundwater Source Protection Zone. 

 
 A soakaway used to serve a non-mains drainage system must be sited no less than 10 

metres from the nearest watercourse, not less than 10 metres from any other foul 
soakaway and not less than 50 metres from the nearest potable water supply, spring or 
borehole. 

 

Page 75

https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/mchw/index.htm
http://streetworks.org.uk/
https://www.ournetwork.openreach.co.uk/property-development.aspx
https://www.virginmedia.com/broadband/network-expansion
https://www.ofnl.co.uk/house-builders/
http://cityfibre.com/property-developers
http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-are-we-delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx
http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-are-we-delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx
mailto:bigidea.ncc@northnorthants.gov.uk
https://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/Pages/home.aspx


 Where the proposed development involves the connection of foul drainage to an existing 
non-mains drainage system, the applicant should ensure that it is in a good state of 
repair, regularly de-sludged and of sufficient capacity to deal with any potential increase 
in flow and loading which may occur as a result of the development. 

 
 Where the existing non-mains drainage system is covered by a permit to discharge then 

an application to vary the permit will need to be made to reflect the increase in volume 
being discharged. It can take up to 13 weeks before we decide whether to vary a permit. 

 Further advice is available at: 
 https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks  
 

 

Page 76

https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	 Planning Applications
	6 Land South East of Field View, Brackley
	WNS.2022.0848.FUL - Committee Report

	7 Aston Martin F1, Buckingham Road, Silverstone
	WNS.2022.1468.MAF - Aerial Plan
	WNS.2022.1468.MAF - Committee Report


